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FINANCIAL KEY MORTGAGE CORPORATION 

 

Offering of Class A Shares 

Date:  February 19, 2018 

The Issuer  

Name:  Financial Key Mortgage Corporation (the “Corporation”) 

Head office: 216 – 2630 Croydon Drive, Surrey, BC V3Z 6T3  

 Phone No.  604.558.5001 

 E-mail address:  info@financialkey.ca 

 Fax No.  1.877.655.3323 

Currently listed or quoted:  No. These securities do not trade on any exchange or market. 

Reporting issuer:  No. 

SEDAR filer: No. 

The Offering  

Securities offered:  Non-voting redeemable Class A shares (each, a “Class A Share”) with a par value of $1.00 each  

Price per security:  $1.00 per Class A Share (the “Subscription Price”) 

Minimum/Maximum 

offering:  

There is no minimum offering. There is no maximum offering. 

6,364,763 Class A Shares have been issued under this offering to date. Funds available under the 

offering may not be sufficient to accomplish our proposed objectives. 

Minimum Subscription 

Amount: 

The minimum number of Class A Shares that may be subscribed for by any one Subscriber is 5,000 Class 

A Shares at a subscription price of $1.00 per Class A Share for a total of $5,000. The Corporation may 

permit investments of less than $5,000 from time to time. 

Payment terms:  Certified cheque or bank draft payable to “Financial Key Mortgage Corporation”. See Item 5.2 

“Subscription Procedure”.  

Proposed closing date(s):  The closing of the sale of the Class A Shares offered hereunder will take place at such times as are 

chosen by the Corporation. The Corporation reserves the right to close the offering from time to time 

as subscriptions are received.  

Income Tax consequences:  There are important tax consequences to these securities. See Item 6 “Income Tax Consequences and 

RRSP / TFSA Eligibility”. 

Selling agent:  No specific agent has been retained by the Corporation in respect of the offering. The Corporation may 

pay a sales fee to registered securities dealers and exempt market dealers, or where permitted, non-

registrants, in an amount not to exceed 4% of the subscription monies obtained by such persons as 

described herein. The sales fee is comprised of a 2.00% initial commission fee at the time of 

subscription, as well as 1.00% trailing commissions for two years if the funds are held at each year end. 

See Item 7 “Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”. 

Resale restrictions  You will be restricted from selling your securities for an indefinite period. See Item 10 “Resale 

Restrictions”. However, the Class A Shares are redeemable in certain circumstances. See Item 5.1 

“Terms of Class A Shares – Redemption Rights”. 

Purchaser’s rights  You have 2 business days to cancel your agreement to purchase these securities. If there is a 

misrepresentation in this offering memorandum, you have the right to sue either for damages or to 

cancel the agreement. See Item 11 “Purchasers’ Rights”. 

No securities regulatory authority or regulator has assessed the merits of these securities or reviewed this offering memorandum. 

Any representation to the contrary is an offence. This is a risky investment. See Item 8 “Risk Factors”.  
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DISCLAIMERS AND FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Offering Memorandum constitutes a private offering of securities only in those jurisdictions and to those persons 

where and to whom they may be lawfully sold and therein only by those persons permitted to sell such securities. This 

Offering Memorandum is not, and under no circumstances is it to be construed as a prospectus, advertisement or 

public offering of the securities referred to herein. No securities regulatory authority or regulator has assessed the 

merits of these securities or reviewed this Offering Memorandum. Any representation to the contrary is an offence. 

This is a risky investment. See Item 8 “Risk Factors”. Persons who will be acquiring securities pursuant to this Offering 

Memorandum will not have the benefit of the review of any offering materials by the securities commissions or similar 

authorities in Canada. The securities offered hereunder will be issued under exemptions from the prospectus and, if 

applicable, registration requirements of the applicable securities laws of the Province of British Columbia and the 

rules, regulations and policies thereunder, and will be subject to certain resale restrictions. These securities will not be 

offered for sale in the United States of America. 

This Offering Memorandum does not constitute, and may not be used for or in conjunction with, an offer or 

solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction or in any circumstances in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized, 

or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation. You are directed to inform yourself of 

and observe such restrictions and all legal requirements of your jurisdiction of residence in respect of the acquisition, 

holding and disposition of the securities offered hereby. Subscribers should thoroughly review this Offering 

Memorandum and are advised to consult with their professional advisors to assess the business, legal, income tax and 

other aspects of this investment. The securities offered hereby will be issued only on the basis of information 

contained in this Offering Memorandum and no other information or representation is authorized or may be relied 

upon as having been authorized by the Corporation. Any subscription for the securities offered hereby made by any 

person on the basis of statements or representations not contained in this Offering Memorandum or so provided, or 

inconsistent with the information contained herein or therein, will be solely at the risk of such person.  

This Offering Memorandum contains forward-looking statements. Often, but not always, forward-looking statements 

can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “proposes”, “expects”, “estimates”, “intends”, “anticipates” or 

“believes”, or variations (including negative and grammatical variations) of such words and phrases or state that 

certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. Forward-

looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual 

results, performance or achievements of the Corporation to be materially different from any future results, 

performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Actual results, performance 

and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those expressed or implied by the forward-

looking statements contained in this Offering Memorandum. Such forward-looking statements are based on a number 

of assumptions which may prove to be incorrect including, but not limited to: the completion of the Offering (defined 

herein), the ability of the Corporation to make Loans (defined herein) secured by Mortgages (defined herein) capable 

of generating the necessary income to enable the Corporation to achieve its investment objectives, the maintenance 

of prevailing interest rates at favourable levels, the ability of borrowers to service their obligations under the Loans, 

the ability of the Manager (defined herein) to effectively perform its obligations to the Corporation, anticipated costs 

and expenses, competition, and changes in general economic conditions. These forward-looking statements should 

not be relied upon as representing the Corporation’s views as of any date subsequent to the date of this Offering 

Memorandum. Although the Corporation has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, 

events or results to differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements, there may be other factors 

that cause actions, events or results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no assurance that 

forward-looking statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results, performance and future events could differ 

materially from those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on 

forward-looking statements. The factors identified above are not intended to represent a complete list of the factors 

that could affect the Corporation. For additional risk factors relating to the Corporation, its business, and an 

investment in Class A Shares, see Item 8 “Risk Factors”. 



 

CW11862924.4 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

GLOSSARY ...................................................................................................................................................... i 

ITEM 1 USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS.................................................................................................................... 1 
1.1 Funds ............................................................................................................................................................................ 1 
1.2 Use of Available Funds ................................................................................................................................................ 1 
1.3 Reallocation.................................................................................................................................................................. 2 

ITEM 2 BUSINESS OF THE CORPORATION .......................................................................................................... 2 
2.1 Structure ....................................................................................................................................................................... 2 
2.2 The Corporation’s Business ......................................................................................................................................... 2 
2.3 Development of the Business ..................................................................................................................................... 8 
2.4 Long Term Objectives .................................................................................................................................................. 9 
2.5 Short Term Objectives and How the Corporation Intends to Achieve Them ........................................................ 10 
2.6 Insufficient Funds....................................................................................................................................................... 10 
2.7 Material Agreements................................................................................................................................................. 10 

ITEM 3 INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT, PROMOTERS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS.................................. 10 
3.1 Compensation and Securities Held........................................................................................................................... 10 
3.2 Management Experience .......................................................................................................................................... 12 
3.3 Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy ....................................................................................................................... 12 
3.4 Loans ........................................................................................................................................................................... 13 
3.5 Promoter .................................................................................................................................................................... 13 

ITEM 4 CAPITAL STRUCTURE........................................................................................................................... 13 
4.1 Capital Structure ........................................................................................................................................................ 13 
4.2 Long Term Debt.......................................................................................................................................................... 13 
4.3 Prior Sales ................................................................................................................................................................... 14 

ITEM 5 SECURITIES OFFERED .......................................................................................................................... 15 
5.1 Terms of Class A Shares ............................................................................................................................................. 15 
5.2 Subscription Procedure ............................................................................................................................................. 17 

ITEM 6 INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES AND RRSP / TFSA ELIGIBILITY ................................................................... 20 
6.1 General ....................................................................................................................................................................... 20 
6.2 Status as a Mortgage Investment Corporation ....................................................................................................... 20 
6.3 Taxation of the Corporation...................................................................................................................................... 21 
6.4 Taxation of Class A Shareholders.............................................................................................................................. 22 
6.5 Eligibility for Investment by Deferred Plans ............................................................................................................ 22 

ITEM 7 COMPENSATION PAID TO SELLERS AND FINDERS ................................................................................... 23 

ITEM 8 RISK FACTORS .................................................................................................................................... 23 

ITEM 9 REPORTING OBLIGATIONS ................................................................................................................... 28 

ITEM 10 RESALE RESTRICTIONS....................................................................................................................... 28 

ITEM 11 PURCHASERS’ RIGHTS ....................................................................................................................... 29 

ITEM 12 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ................................................................................................................... 29 

ITEM 13 DATE AND CERTIFICATE ....................................................................................................................C-1 

 



- i - 

CW11862924.4 

GLOSSARY 

The following terms appear throughout this Offering Memorandum. Care should be taken to read each term in the 

context of the particular provision of this Offering Memorandum in which such term is used. 

“Affiliate” or “Affiliates” has the same meaning as in the B.C. Securities Act; 

“Annual Net Profits” means all of the profits of the Corporation in a Fiscal Year available for payment of dividends as 

determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles after payment of the Management Fee, 

finance costs, and other expenses, and after taking such reserves as the Manager may determine to be necessary or 

advisable; 

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), as amended from time to time; 

“BCI 32-517” means British Columbia Instrument 32-517 Exemption from Dealer Registration Requirement for Trades 

in Securities of Mortgage Investment Entities; 

“B.C. Securities Act” means the Securities Act (British Columbia), with all amendments thereto in force from time to 

time and any statutes that may be passed which have the effect of supplementing or superseding such statute; 

“Calculation Date” means the last day of the Corporation’s Fiscal Year; 

“Class A Share” means a Class A share with a par value of $1.00 each in the capital of the Corporation; 

“Class A Shareholder” means those investors whose subscriptions to purchase Class A Shares are accepted by the 

Corporation and thereafter at any particular time the persons entered in the central securities register of the 

Corporation as holders of Class A Shares and the singular form means one such registered holder; 

“Closing” means a closing of the sale of Class A Shares as the Manager may determine from time to time; 

“Date of Closing” means in respect of any Class A Shares the date upon which the subscription for such Class A Share 

is accepted by the Corporation; 

“Dividend Payment Date” means a date, selected by the directors of the Corporation in their sole discretion that falls 

within 90 days of the Calculation Date; 

“Fiscal Year” means each consecutive period of 12 months ending on October 31 (other than the Corporation’s first 

Fiscal Year); 

“Loans” means the portfolio of short to medium-term loans in which the Corporation will invest the net proceeds from 

the issuance of Class A Shares pursuant to this Offering Memorandum; 

“Manager” means Financial Key Consulting Inc., a company incorporated pursuant to the laws of British Columbia; 

“Management Agreement” means the Management Agreement entered into between the Manager and the 

Corporation dated January 4, 2016; 

“Management Fee” means an annual fee equal to 2% of the total assets of the Corporation payable to the Manager in 

accordance with the Management Agreement; 

“Mortgage” or “Mortgages” means a mortgage, a mortgage of a mortgage or a mortgage of a leasehold interest (or 

other like instrument, including an assignment of or an acknowledgement of an interest in a mortgage), 

hypothecation, deed of trust, charge or other security interest of or in Real Property used to secure obligations to 

repay money by a charge upon the underlying Real Property; 
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“Mortgage Broker” means a party licensed under the Mortgage Brokers Act, and may include the Manager if and to 

the extent that the Manager becomes licensed under the Mortgage Brokers Act; 

“Mortgage Brokers Act” means the Mortgage Brokers Act (British Columbia), with all amendments thereto in force 

from time to time and any statutes that may be passed which have the effect of supplementing or superseding such 

statute; 

“Net Asset Value” means, on a Valuation Day, the aggregate fair market value of the assets of the Corporation on such 

Valuation Day less the amount of the liabilities of the Corporation at that time, determined in accordance with the 

Articles of the Corporation; 

“Net Asset Value per Class A Share” means, on a Valuation Day, the quotient obtained by dividing the amount equal 

to the Net Asset Value of the Corporation on such Valuation Day by the total number of Class A Shares, including 

fractions of Class A Shares, then outstanding; 

“Net Subscription Proceeds” means the gross proceeds to the Corporation from the sale of the Class A Shares less the 

costs of this Offering and any sales fees; 

“Notice of Redemption” means written notice by a holder of the Class A Shares delivered to the Corporation at its 

registered office seeking to have any of his or her or its Class A Shares redeemed and specifying the number of the 

Class A Shares to be redeemed, and, if applicable, such notice must be accompanied by the necessary share 

certificates for surrender and cancellation; 

“Offering” means this offering of Class A Shares; 

“Real Property” means land, rights or interest in land (including without limitation leaseholds, air rights and rights in 

condominiums, but excluding Mortgages) and any buildings, structures, improvements and fixtures located thereon; 

“Securities Authority” means the British Columbia Securities Commission and any other applicable provincial 

securities commission; 

“Subscriber” means a subscriber for Class A Shares; 

“Subscription Agreement” means the subscription agreement to subscribe for Class A Shares; 

“Subscription Date” in respect of a Class A Share means the date upon which the subscription for such Class A Share is 

accepted by the Corporation; 

“Subscription Price” means $1.00 per Class A Share; 

“Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada), as amended from time to time; and 

“Valuation Day” means the last day of each Fiscal Year. 

CANADIAN CURRENCY 

All dollar amounts stated herein, unless otherwise stated, are expressed in Canadian currency. 



- 1 - 

CW11862924.4 

ITEM 1 

USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 

1.1 Funds 

 

 Assuming 

Minimum 

Offering
(1)

 

Assuming 

Maximum 

Offering
(2)

 

A. Amount to be raised by this Offering - $10,000,000 

B Estimated Selling Commissions and Fees
(3)

 - $400,000 

C. Estimated Costs of the Offering (e.g. Legal, accounting, audit)
(4)

 $50,000 $50,000 

D. Available Funds: D = A – (B + C) ($50,000) $9,550,000 

E. Additional sources of funding required $50,000
(5)

 $0 

F. Working capital deficiency N/A $0 

G. Total: G = (D + E) - F $0 $9,550,000 

(1) There is no minimum offering. To date, 6,364,763 Class A Shares have been issued under this Offering. 

(2) There is no maximum offering. The amount indicated is an estimate of the Class A Shares that the Corporation expects to issue during its current Fiscal Year and is 
used for illustrative purposes.  

(3) The Corporation may pay a sales fee to registered securities dealers and exempt market dealers, or where permitted, non-registrants, in an amount not to exceed 

2.00% of all subscription monies received by such persons, payable at the Closing of such subscriptions and trailing fees of 1.00% up to two years from the Closing 

(1.00% per year). See Item 7 “Compensation paid to Sellers and Finders”.  

(4) Offering costs as shown are estimated expenses (currently estimated to be $50,000) of or incidental to the issue, sale and delivery of the Class A Shares pursuant to 

this Offering, including, without limitation, fees and disbursements of legal counsel and accountants, printing and other administrative costs associated with 
marketing the Class A Shares pursuant to this Offering Memorandum and the reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (including applicable taxes) of the Corporation in 

connection with such issue, sale and delivery. 

(5) If necessary, the Manager may lend and pay on behalf of the Corporation all costs incurred in connection with the preparation for and completion of the Offering, 

including legal and accounting fees which are estimated to be $50,000. All costs in connection with the Offering funded by the Manager will be repaid (with interest) 

from funds received by the Corporation from Subscribers or from income generated by the Corporation. 

The Corporation does not have a working capital deficiency. 

1.2 Use of Available Funds  

The Net Subscription Proceeds will be invested primarily in Loans secured by Mortgages. Investments in such Loans 

will be made as set out in Item 2.2 “The Corporation’s Business - Investment Policies and Guidelines”. The Manager 

will use its best efforts to make suitable investments of the Net Subscription Proceeds as soon as possible following 

each Closing. 

 

Description of intended use of available funds listed in order of priority 

Assuming Minimum 

Offering 

Assuming 

Maximum 

Offering 

Investment in Mortgages, other permitted investments and related 

administrative expenses 

$0 $9,550,000 

Other uses $0 $0 

Total $0 $9,550,000 

Pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Manager will be paid an annual Management Fee equal to 2% of the 

total assets of the Corporation. The Corporation will pay the Management Fee to the Manager as follows: (a) $5,000 

monthly, on the last day of each month; and (b) the balance of the unpaid Management Fee will be calculated and 

reconciled as at the end of the Fiscal Year and will be paid to the Manager within 90 days of the end of the Fiscal Year. 

See Item 2.2 “The Corporation’s Business – The Manager” and Item 8 “Risk Factors – Conflicts of Interest”. 

The Corporation expects that it will mainly earn revenue through interest and fees earned from Loans made to the 

Zenterra group of companies (“Zenterra”) or to Affiliates thereof. A description of Zenterra and its business is set forth 

below under Item 2.2 “The Corporation’s Business – Zenterra”. Manpreet Singh Gill is the Vice President of Zenterra. 

Mr. Gill is also a director and Vice President of the Corporation and a director of the Manager. Mr. Gill’s involvement 
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with the Corporation, the Manager and Zenterra will create a conflict of interest for Mr. Gill, and the risk exists that 

such conflicts will not be resolved in the best interests of the Corporation and its shareholders. Consequently, Mr. Gill 

will abstain from any involvement in the approval process of Loans made to Zenterra. The BCBCA provisions regarding 

conflicts of interest will be complied with in any such transactions involving Zenterra. See Item 2.2 “The Corporation’s 

Business – Zenterra” and Item 8 “Risk Factors – Conflicts of Interest”. 

1.3 Reallocation 

The Corporation intends to spend the available funds as stated. The Corporation will reallocate funds only for sound 

business reasons. 

ITEM 2 

BUSINESS OF THE CORPORATION 

2.1 Structure 

The Corporation is a “mortgage investment corporation” as defined under section 130.1 of the Tax Act and intends to 

continue to qualify as such. It was incorporated under the BCBCA on January 14, 2009 under Incorporation 

No. BC0843537. The Corporation’s registered and records office is located at the Corporation’s head office at 216 – 

2630 Croydon Drive, Surrey, British Columbia V3Z 6T3.  The Corporation does not have any subsidiaries or proposed 

subsidiaries. 

The Corporation’s Articles and investment policies require it to conduct its operations so as to qualify as a “mortgage 

investment corporation”. The directors of the Corporation intend to refuse the registration of an allotment or transfer 

of the Corporation’s shares which may result in the Corporation ceasing to meet such qualification. 

Financial Key Consulting Inc. is the manager of the Corporation pursuant to the terms of the Management Agreement. 

The Manager is a company incorporated under the BCBCA on July 14, 2003 under Incorporation No. BC0673383. The 

Manager’s registered and records office is located at the Manager’s head office at 216 - 2630 Croydon Drive, Surrey, 

British Columbia V3Z 6T3. 

2.2 The Corporation’s Business 

The Corporation 

The Corporation is a mortgage investment corporation, see Item 6.2 “Status as a Mortgage Investment Corporation”. 

It was incorporated for the purpose of generating a stable stream of income for investors, primarily by making Loans 

secured by Mortgages, thereby providing investors with an opportunity to participate indirectly in a portfolio of 

Mortgages. The Corporation has developed its mortgage investment business since 2009 and expects that demand for 

private Mortgage financing will remain high as traditional institutional lenders keep their lending policies tight due to 

legislative changes and regulatory requirements. The Corporation expects that it will mainly earn revenue through 

interest and fees earned from Loans made to the Zenterra or to Affiliates thereof. A description of Zenterra and its 

business is set forth below under Item 2.2 “The Corporation’s Business – Zenterra”.  

The Corporation invests primarily in first and second Mortgages each having a principal amount which, when added to 

the principal amount of prior Mortgages, is generally not more than 85% of the appraised value of the Real Property 

against which they are secured. There may be instances in which the Corporation will invest in Loans with a higher or 

lower loan-to-value ratio as the directors of the Corporation determine on a case-by-case basis. 

To the extent that the Corporation’s funds are not invested in Mortgages from time to time, such funds are expected 

to be deposited with a Canadian chartered bank or credit union or invested in short term deposits, savings accounts or 

government guaranteed income certificates so that the Corporation may maintain a level of working capital for its 

ongoing operations considered acceptable by the directors of the Corporation. Subject to limitations and restrictions 

applicable to mortgage investment corporations that are contained in the Tax Act, the Corporation may make other 
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permitted investments over time, including the direct ownership of Real Property (including Real Property acquired by 

way of foreclosure under Mortgages). 

The Loans may include development loans and construction loans. A development loan is normally used to finance the 

acquisition of land and the installation and construction thereon of roads, drainage and sewage systems, utilities and 

similar improvements. Development loan advances are made pursuant to a stipulated schedule after an inspection 

and review of the project’s progress by the lender or its agent and the furnishing of reports by professional engineers, 

architects or quantity surveyors. In some instances, development loans may be made to finance the acquisition of 

more land than will be improved immediately, or land, the development of which is contemplated at a later date. 

Take-out commitments are not normally a prerequisite to the granting of a development loan. 

A construction loan is normally used to finance the construction of buildings, recreational facilities and similar 

improvements. Construction loan advances are also made pursuant to a stipulated schedule after appropriate 

inspections and progress reports. Construction loans are normally made after a take-out commitment (a commitment 

to pay the balance outstanding on the construction loan at the end of its term) has been received by the borrower, or 

after a pre-determined level of pre-sales or pre-leasing have been achieved by the borrower. The Corporation will only 

invest in a construction loan if the funds made available under the construction loan plus any additional financing 

arranged by the borrower, or the borrower’s available capital, is considered to be sufficient to complete the proposed 

construction, and the required pre-sales or pre-leasing targets have been achieved. In certain cases, if the minimum 

amount to be disbursed under a take-out commitment, together with the amount to be funded under any gap loan 

commitment is sufficient to repay the entire construction loan, the Corporation will invest in a construction loan. The 

Corporation may invest in subsequent ranking loans for any or all development and construction situations. 

Zenterra 

Zenterra is a real estate developer and builder. Zenterra specializes in multi-family and single family home 

construction. With many years of diverse experience between them, the partners at Zenterra have been building 

single and multi-family homes throughout Metro Vancouver for over 15 years. 

Manpreet Singh Gill is the Vice President of Zenterra. Mr. Gill is also a director and Vice President of the Corporation 

and a director of the Manager. Mr. Gill’s involvement with the Corporation, the Manager and Zenterra will create a 

conflict of interest for Mr. Gill, and the risk exists that such conflicts will not be resolved in the best interests of the 

Corporation and its shareholders. Consequently, Mr. Gill will abstain from any involvement in the approval process of 

Loans made to Zenterra. The BCBCA provisions regarding conflicts of interest will be complied with in any such 

transactions involving Zenterra. See Item 8 “Risk Factors – Conflicts of Interest” 

The Manager 

The Corporation does not have and does not expect to have any employees and will be managed by the Manager, 

which will provide ongoing administrative and management services relating to the Corporation’s business pursuant 

to the Management Agreement. The Manager is responsible for managing and overseeing the Corporation’s business 

and affairs, including day-to-day operations and managing the Loan portfolio, and providing administrative services for 

the Corporation’s operations. The Manager is an Affiliate of the Corporation.  

Pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Manager will be paid an annual Management Fee equal to 2% of the 

total assets of the Corporation. The Corporation will pay the Management Fee to the Manager as follows: (a) $5,000 

monthly, on the last day of each month; and (b) the balance of the unpaid Management Fee will be calculated and 

reconciled as at the end of the Fiscal Year and will be paid to the Manager within 90 days of the end of the Fiscal Year. 

The Manager is entitled to retain any and all brokerage fees or discounts related to mortgages originated by the 

Manager, the directors and shareholders of the Manager, third party mortgage brokerage companies or any other 

referral source. 
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The Manager will work to develop and implement all aspects of the Corporation’s marketing and distribution 

strategies, will manage the ongoing business and administration of the Corporation and will monitor the investment 

portfolio of the Corporation. The Manager will be responsible for ensuring that the Net Subscription Proceeds are 

invested as described in Item 1 “Use of Available Funds” and in accordance with the investment policies and guidelines 

of the Corporation. The Corporation’s funds will not be commingled with the Manager’s funds, nor with any other 

funds. 

Pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Manager has exclusive authority to make decisions regarding the 

business of the Corporation, and has authority to bind the Corporation. The Manager’s duties include, without 

limitation, managing or providing for the management of the investment portfolio of the Corporation in accordance 

with the investment objectives, restrictions and guidelines of the Corporation; providing or causing to be provided to 

the Corporation advice and assistance in connection with the determination of the investment guidelines of the 

Corporation; establishing and maintaining bank accounts on behalf of the Corporation; appointing the accountants of 

and registrar and transfer agent for the Corporation; asset valuation of the Corporation and calculation of the income 

and capital gains of the Corporation; authorizing all contractual arrangements relating to the Corporation; providing 

services in respect of the Corporation’s daily operations; distributing or causing to be distributed Class A Shares; 

ensuring compliance with applicable securities legislation; preparing and filing or causing to be prepared and filed all 

requisite returns, reports and filings; providing all requisite office accommodation and associated facilities; providing 

to the Corporation all other administrative and other services and facilities required by the Corporation; and 

maintaining complete records of all transactions in respect of the investment portfolio of the Corporation. The 

Manager may, pursuant to the terms of the Management Agreement, delegate certain of its powers to third parties. 

In exercising its powers and discharging its duties under the Management Agreement, the Manager shall exercise the 

degree of care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent adviser and professional manager would exercise in 

comparable circumstances and act honestly and in good faith. 

The Corporation will reimburse the Manager immediately upon the request of the Manager for all direct third party 

costs and expenses incurred by the Manager in connection with the provision of services pursuant to the Management 

Agreement, including without limitation the expenses of the Offering and legal, accounting and printing expenses. 

The appointment of the Manager shall be for a five year period and shall renew automatically for consecutive five year 

periods unless either party provides written notice to the other to terminate the Management Agreement. 

The Management Agreement may be terminated by the Corporation in the event that: 

(a) a bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation order is issued against the Manager; 

(b) the Manager makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors or commits any act of bankruptcy 

within the meaning of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada); 

(c) the Manager assigns the Management Agreement or its rights or obligations thereunder to any 

person who is not an Affiliate of the Manager without the prior written consent of the Corporation; 

(d) the Manager commits a breach or default under the Management Agreement not related to the 

payment of any money to be paid by the Manager to the Corporation and the same is not cured 

within 90 days of the Manager receiving notice thereof; 

(e) the Manager commits a breach or default under the Management Agreement related to the 

payment of any money to be paid by the Manager to the Corporation and the same is not cured 

within 15 days of the Manager receiving notice thereof; or 

(f) the Corporation gives the Manager 90 days prior written notice of intention to terminate the 

Management Agreement. 
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The Management Agreement may be terminated by the Manager in the event that: 

(a) a bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation order is issued against the Corporation; 

(b) the Corporation makes an assignment for the benefit of the Corporation’s creditors or commits any 

act of bankruptcy within the meaning of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada); or 

(c) the Manager gives the Corporation 90 days prior written notice of intention to terminate the 

Management Agreement. 

Mortgage Brokerage 

The Corporation is registered as a Mortgage Broker with the British Columbia Financial Institutions Commission in 

accordance with the Mortgage Brokers Act. The Office of the Registrar of Mortgage Brokers at the Financial 

Institutions Commission regulates the Mortgage brokering and lending activities of mortgage investment corporations 

under the Mortgage Brokers Act. The Registrar and the Mortgage Brokers Act do not regulate the capital raising and 

investment marketing activities of mortgage investment corporations which are subject to securities legislation and 

regulation. 

Investment in Loans 

The Corporation will seek out and originate Loans for investment and which are consistent with the investment and 

operating policies and objectives of the Corporation. It is the intent of the Corporation to invest the proceeds from the 

issuance of the Class A Shares in Loans primarily to Zenterra and its Affiliates. 

The Mortgages to be invested in by the Corporation are a common form of financing within the real estate industry. 

The standard documentation used with respect to Mortgages will provide that, in the event of a failure by the 

mortgagor to pay any amount owing under a Mortgage, the mortgagees will be entitled to enforce the Mortgage in 

accordance with applicable law. In the event of a failure by a mortgagor to make a payment of interest and/or 

principal when due, the mortgagees will immediately communicate with the mortgagor and, failing prompt 

rectification, will issue a notice of its intent to exercise the remedy or remedies which are available to the mortgagees 

which the Manager considers appropriate. Typically, all legal costs, costs related to registration of Mortgages and 

costs relating to obtaining appraisals of Real Property, as allowed by law, will be for the account of the mortgagors. 

The Mortgages will usually be held by and registered in the name of the Corporation. However, from time to time, the 

Manager may elect Mortgages to be held by and registered in the name of nominees of the Corporation on behalf of 

the Corporation. Mortgages may also be held by another entity or entities holding an interest in such Mortgages 

jointly with and/or in trust for the Corporation, with beneficial title and ownership to the Corporation’s interest being 

held by the Corporation or its nominee. Where legal title to a Mortgage is held by and registered in the name of an 

entity wholly-owned by the Corporation, such entity may also hold legal title to such Mortgage on behalf of the other 

beneficial owners of such Mortgage. 

In addition, the Corporation will obtain standard security in respect of commercial Mortgages which, depending on 

the specific Mortgage, may include one or more of an assignment of rents, an assignment of insurance proceeds, an 

assignment of purchase agreements (on residential development projects) and a general security agreement. 

The Corporation will invest in Mortgages secured primarily by residential Real Property but may invest in Mortgages 

secured by various other types of Real Property, including single-family dwellings, duplexes, townhouses, 

condominium units and other multi-family residential properties, subdivisions and construction projects and 

commercial property, small strata retail, industrial and office units/buildings. The Corporation will invest in Mortgages 

primarily in the Lower Mainland and Fraser Valley regions of British Columbia. Such Mortgages will comply with the 

investment policies of the Corporation. While the Corporation may make Loans relating to property outside of such 

areas, the Corporation will in such cases alter its lending criteria in order to ensure protection of the capital received 

from the Class A Shareholders. 
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The Mortgages in which the Corporation invests will primarily be short term (i.e. with terms of one year or less). The 

Corporation will attempt to stagger the maturity dates in order to produce an orderly turnover of assets and liabilities. 

The Mortgages may be second or, in exceptional cases, subsequent ranking Mortgages. As well, the Corporation may 

invest, either alone or in participation with other lenders, in mezzanine and subordinated Mortgage debt for 

investment properties, which Mortgages may carry longer terms. 

The Corporation may also loan monies to persons which are not secured by Mortgages and therefore may be secured 

by non-real estate assets including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, securities or chattels, liens on 

personal property for commercial and/or industrial development. Such Loans may only be made so long as such Loans 

do not result in the Corporation failing to qualify as a mortgage investment corporation pursuant to the Tax Act. 

The Corporation may also acquire interests in Mortgages by entering into participation agreements. Such participation 

agreements may provide for a beneficial, although not a directly registered interest of the Corporation in the subject 

Mortgage. 

The Corporation may also invest in Mortgages which provide a fixed return (i.e. an interest rate) plus a bonus of a 

portion of the net profits from the applicable transaction the borrower may be involved in, the terms of which will be 

determined by the Corporation. 

Investment Policies and Guidelines 

The Corporation’s goal is to maximize shareholder returns by investing in Loans primarily to Zenterra and its Affiliates. 

The Corporation will generally comply with the following policies and guidelines in order to accomplish this goal. These 

policies and guidelines are consistent with the real estate legislation applicable to mortgage investment corporations 

generally and will be applied in a manner that is consistent with the restrictions imposed on the Corporation, as a 

mortgage investment corporation (as set out in the Tax Act and discussed in more detail under Item 6.2 “Status as a 

Mortgage Investment Corporation”). The following are the investment criteria to be applied when selecting Mortgages 

or Loans in which the Corporation will invest: 

1. The Corporation intends that the overall loan-to-value ratio of the Mortgages will not exceed 85% of 

the aggregate appraised values of the property (including any prior ranking Mortgages) which is 

mortgaged. However, in certain circumstances, and pursuant to stringent criteria established by the 

credit committee of the Corporation, the acceptable loan-to-value ratio may be increased to 95% 

(including any prior ranking Mortgages) for Loans that are secured with Mortgages on detached 

single family homes, apartments, townhouses, or duplexes located within the Lower Mainland and 

Fraser Valley regions of British Columbia. 

2. The Manager will analyze the credit score and personal net worth/income of all potential borrowers 

prior to agreeing to grant any Loans and the primary and secondary sources of repayment and the 

financial strength and ability to repay of the borrower must be fully assessed and approved by the 

directors of the Corporation. 

3. The Corporation will require the borrower to confirm the current Mortgage balance of any prior 

Mortgage(s) if the Corporation is providing a Loan to be secured by a subsequent Mortgage. 

4. In its discretion and depending on the circumstances, the Corporation may review the BC 

Assessment value of any property in respect of which it intends to make a Loan secured by a 

Mortgage, or may have a comparative market analysis completed. 

5. The Corporation will have primarily invest in short term Loans (i.e. with terms of one year or less), 

and will attempt to stagger the maturity dates in order to produce an orderly turnover of assets and 

liabilities. 

6. The Mortgages may be second or, in exceptional cases, subsequent ranking Mortgages. 
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7. The Corporation may invest, either alone or in participation with other lenders, in mezzanine and 

subordinated Mortgage debt for investment properties, which Mortgages may carry longer terms. 

8. The Corporation may also loan monies to persons which are not secured by Mortgages and 

therefore may be secured by non-real estate assets including, but without limiting the generality of 

the foregoing, securities or chattels or liens on personal properties for commercial and/or industrial 

property. Such Loans may only be made so long as such Loans do not result in the Corporation failing 

to qualify as a mortgage investment corporation and may use promissory notes which are backed by 

liens on other non-real estate security. 

9. The Corporation may only make an investment in Mortgages where appraisals of the fair market 

value of the relevant property and all other relevant materials, including credit and financial reports 

in respect of the borrower, are satisfactory to the Manager. 

10. The Corporation will require the Manager or a representative of the Manager to perform a 

walkthrough of any real or immovable property in respect of which it intends to make a Loan in 

order to view and assess the actual condition of such property prior to funding. 

11. All potential Mortgage investments must be approved by the directors of the Corporation and Loan 

approvals must be signed by two directors of the Corporation if under $500,000 and by three 

directors of the Corporation if over $500,000. 

12. The Corporation may hold real or immovable property acquired as a result of foreclosure where such 

foreclosure was necessary to protect the interests of the Corporation as a result of a default by the 

borrower. The Corporation will use its reasonable best efforts to dispose of such real or immovable 

property acquired on foreclosure. 

13. To the extent that, from time to time, the Corporation’s funds are not invested in Loans, such funds 

are expected to be deposited with a Canadian chartered bank or invested by the Manager on the 

Corporation’s behalf in short term deposits, savings accounts or government guaranteed income 

certificates or treasury bills so as to maintain a level of working capital for the Corporation’s ongoing 

operations considered acceptable by the Manager. 

14. Commitment letters are to be issued for every Loan approval and signed by the Manager on behalf 

of the Corporation. 

15. All Mortgage security documentation must be prepared by a reputable law firm on the Corporation’s 

list of approved solicitors. 

16. All funding conditions set out in the commitment letter must be satisfied prior to any disbursement 

of Loan funds. 

17. The Corporation will not make any investment that would result in its failing to qualify as a mortgage 

investment corporation pursuant to the Tax Act. 

If, due to a change in the provisions of the Tax Act or other legislation applicable to the Corporation, any of the 

foregoing policies, guidelines and restrictions require amendment in order to comply with such change in legislation, 

the Corporation may make such change and such change will be binding on the Corporation. In addition, the foregoing 

policies, guidelines and restrictions may be changed at any time (so long as such change complies with applicable 

legislation) if the change is determined by the Manager to be required in order to ensure that the Corporation remains 

competitive in the making of the highest quality Loans being undertaken in the marketplace at the time of such 

change and is in the best interests of the Corporation. 
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Operating Policies 

The Tax Act imposes certain restrictions on mortgage investment corporations and on investments made by mortgage 

investment corporations, which restrictions are further described in Item 6.2 “Status as a Mortgage Investment 

Corporation”. 

2.3 Development of the Business 

The Corporation was incorporated on January 14, 2009 and has conducted the business of investing in Loans secured 

by Mortgages since that time. As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Corporation has issued 6,364,763 

Class A Shares and has outstanding Loans in the amount of $5,783,940.61.  

Mortgage Portfolio 

As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Corporation’s current portfolio of Mortgages consisted of six Loans 

ranging in value from $45,000 to $2,900,000 for an aggregate principal amount of $5,783,940.61. The Mortgages 

securing the outstanding principal of these Loans are all registered against properties in British Columbia and carry 

interest rates ranging from 8% to 12%. Loan-to-value ratios vary across the Loans in the Corporation’s portfolio, and 

are based on BC Assessment Values and/or independent appraisals prepared by members of the Appraisal Institute of 

Canada conducted prior to funding. All of the Loans currently in the Corporation’s portfolio are short term Loans for 

periods of 12 months or less. The Mortgage portfolio composition as of the date of this Offering Memorandum, is as 

follows: 

 

Asset Amount Percent 

Residential Mortgages   

First Mortgages $3,539,000.00 59.64% 

Second Mortgages $2,244,940.61 37.83% 

Subtotal $5,783,940.61 97.47% 

Cash $150,032.48 2.53% 

Total $5,933,973.09  

 

Mortgage Type Location (BC) 
Current 
Standing 

Interest 
Rate 

Mortgage 
Position 

Corporation's 
Mortgage Amount 

 Amount of 

Existing 
Mortgages  

 Value of 
Security  

Loan-to- 
Value

(1)
 Due Date

(2)
 

Residential Coquitlam  In Order 10.00% Second  $    129,995.10   $ 429,000.00   $ 1,243,000.00  44.97% month-to-month
(3)

 

Residential Surrey  In Order 8.00% Second  $      70,000.00   $ 198,000.00   $    544,000.00  49.26% 2019 April  

Residential Surrey In Order 10.00% Second  $ 2,000,000.00
(4)   $6,570,000.00   $11,300,000.00  75.84% 2018 March 

Residential Surrey In Order 11.00% First $     638,945.51 n/a $     852,000.00 75.00% 2018 May 

Residential Abbotsford In Order 12.00% Second $       45,000.00 $   504,737.00 $     729,000.00 75.41% 2018 November 

Residential Surrey In Order 10.00% First  $ 2,900,000.00
(5)

  n/a  $20,250,000.00  14.32% 2018 December 

Total Loans          $5,783,940.61          

Notes: 

(1) Loan-to-value is calculated using BC Assessment values and appraisals that are prepared by members of the Appraisal Institute of Canada. 
(2) All current mortgages are for a term of less than 12 months. 

(3) The original Mortgage became due in June 2016. The Mortgage has continued on the stated terms on a month-to-month basis since the original due date. 

(4) The Loan was made to Zenterra Murrayville TitleCo Ltd. of which Manpreet Gill and Kulbir Johal are sole directors. Mr. Gill is a director and Vice President of the 

Corporation and a director of the Manager. Mr. Johal owns more than 10% of the Class B shares of the Corporation.  

(5) The Loan was made to 2481 176 St. Holdings Ltd. of which Manpreet Gill and Kulbir Johal are sole directors. Mr. Gill is a director and Vice President of the 
Corporation and a director of the Manager. Mr. Johal owns more than 10% of the Class B shares of the Corporation.  
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The Corporation’s dividends are paid annually and are not guaranteed. The returns will fluctuate from year-to-year 

mainly due to the Corporation’s ability to deploy its capital and avoid losses on its Mortgage portfolio. The 

Corporation’s ability to deploy its capital is influenced by the state of the Western Canadian private Mortgage market. 

The Western Canadian private Mortgage market is influenced by factors such as the price of real estate, interest rates, 

lending competition for private Mortgages, employment conditions and general economic activity. The Corporation’s 

return history is as follows: 

 

Year Annualized Return* 

2009 10.77% 

2010 10.06% 

2011 8.95% 

2012 8.37% 

2013 6.65% 

2014 8.15% 

2015   8.02% 

2016 7.03% 

2017 8.43% 

*Historical results are not indicative of future performance. 

The Corporation’s loss provision as of the date of this Offering Memorandum is $Nil. 

2.4 Long Term Objectives 

The Corporation’s long term objectives are: 

(i) to provide the holders of Class A Shares with a return that is superior to term deposits, GICs and 

money market funds, with due consideration to preservation of their capital; 

(ii) to distribute income on an annual basis; 

(iii) to maintain profitability on a sustainable basis; 

(iv) to maintain the Corporation’s status as a mortgage investment corporation under the Tax Act; 

(v) to carry on lending activities in Canada, but primarily in British Columbia; 

(vi) to offer Loans to suitable borrowers who may need slightly more financing than larger institutional 

lenders may from time to time be willing to provide; and 

(vii) to expand the assets of the Corporation while maintaining a minimum annualized rate of return to 

investors of 6% to 8% and a Mortgage portfolio weighted average loan-to-value ratio of less than 

85%. 

The Corporation intends to continue to complete subscriptions for Class A Shares and to invest the Net Subscription 

Proceeds in Mortgages as such funds are received. The Corporation will incur costs in connection with the Offering 

and in administering and placing Mortgages, which costs are expected to remain consistent with historical costs as 

shown on the Corporation’s financial statements. The Corporation’s income will primarily consist of interest received 

on the Mortgages, less the Management Fee, finance costs, and other expenses. Subject to future events which may 

have an impact on the timing of such decisions, it is the current intention of the Manager to continue the Corporation 

for an indefinite period of time.  
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2.5 Short Term Objectives and How the Corporation Intends to Achieve Them 

The Corporation’s business objectives for the next 12 months are to continue to issue Class A Shares pursuant to this 

Offering Memorandum and to invest the Net Subscription Proceeds thereof in Loans secured by Mortgages. The 

Corporation expects to issue 10,000,000 Class A Shares during its current Fiscal Year (see Item 1.1 “Funds”). It is the 

intention of the Corporation and the Manager that the Net Subscription Proceeds of the Offering will be invested as 

quickly as is reasonably possible pursuant to the Corporation’s investment policies and guidelines, to raise further 

equity capital and to optimize returns. The Corporation intends to meet the following objectives for the next 12 

months: 

 

What we must do and 

how we will do it 

Target completion date or, if not 

known, number of months 

to complete 

Our cost 

to complete 

Continue offering of Class A Units to fund further 

investments in Mortgages. 
Since the Corporation has an ongoing 

investment program, there is no 

target completion date for its 

business plan. 

Our costs to carry out our 

investment program generally 

consist of the Management Fee, 

finance costs, and other expenses. 

Provide Class A Shareholders with sustainable 

income while preserving capital for distribution 

or re-investment by investing in Mortgages. 

2.6 Insufficient Funds 

The funds available as a result of the Offering may not be sufficient to accomplish all of the Corporation’s proposed 

objectives and there is no assurance that alternative financing will be available. 

2.7 Material Agreements 

The following is a list of agreements which are material to this Offering and to the Corporation, all of which are in 

effect: 

(a) the Management Agreement dated January 4, 2016 between the Corporation and the Manager. See 

Item 2.2 “The Corporation’s Business – The Manager”. 

In addition, the Corporation has entered into Mortgages securing the Loans made by the Corporation as itemized in 

Item 2.3 “Development of the Business – Mortgage Portfolio”. 

ITEM 3 

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT, PROMOTERS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS 

Financial Key Consulting Inc. is the manager of the Corporation pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 

Management Agreement. The head office of the Manager is located at 216 – 2630 Croydon Dr., Surrey, B.C. V3Z 6T3. 

The Manager is a company incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia. The assets and liabilities 

of the Manager are nominal. 

The Manager is an Affiliate of the Corporation. The current directors and officers of the Corporation are also directors 

and officers of the Manager. 

3.1 Compensation and Securities Held 

The Corporation 

The following table sets out information about each director, officer and promoter of the Corporation and each 

person who directly or indirectly beneficially owns or controls 10% or more of any class of voting securities of the 

Corporation (a “principal holder”). 
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NAME AND 

MUNICIPALITY OF 

PRINCIPAL 

RESIDENCE
(1)

 

POSITIONS HELD (E.G. 

DIRECTOR, OFFICER, 

PROMOTER AND/OR 

PRINCIPAL HOLDER) 

AND THE DATE OF 

OBTAINING THAT 

POSITION 

COMPENSATION PAID BY 

THE CORPORATION 

(i) IN THE MOST 

RECENTLY COMPLETED 

FINANCIAL YEAR AND 

(ii) ANTICIPATED TO BE 

PAID IN THE CURRENT 

FINANCIAL YEAR 

NUMBER, TYPE AND 

PERCENTAGE OF 

SECURITIES OF THE 

CORPORATION 

HELD
(2)

 AFTER 

COMPLETION OF 

MINIMUM OFFERING 

NUMBER, TYPE AND 

PERCENTAGE OF 

SECURITIES OF THE 

CORPORATION 

HELD
(2)

 AFTER 

COMPLETION OF 

MAXIMUM 

OFFERING
(3)

 

Gurmeet Singh 

Grewal 

Surrey, B.C.  

Principal Holder  

Director and President 

of the Corporation 

since January 14, 2009  

Nil 159,852.09  Class A 

Shares 

(2.74% of Class A 

Shares) 

 

9 Class B shares 

(9% of Class B shares) 

159,852.09 Class A 

Shares 

(0.98% of Class A 

Shares) 

 

9 Class B shares 

(9% of Class B shares) 

Rajvinder Pooni 

Burnaby, B.C. 

Principal Holder 

Director and Treasurer 

of the Corporation 

since February 28, 2014  

Nil 212,156.10 Class A 

Shares 

(3.64% of Class A 

Shares) 

 

9 Class B shares 

(9% of Class B shares)  

212,156.10 Class A 

Shares 

(1.30% of Class A 

Shares) 

 

9 Class B shares 

(9% of Class B shares)  

Manpreet Singh Gill 

Richmond, B.C. 

Principal Holder 

Director and Vice 

President of the 

Corporation since 

January 14, 2009 

Nil 25 Class B shares 

(25% of Class B shares) 

25 Class B shares 

(25% of Class B 

shares) 

Satpal Rai 

Burnaby, B.C. 

Principal Holder 

Director and Secretary 

of the Corporation 

since January 14, 2009 

Nil 9 Class B shares 

(9% of Class B shares) 

9 Class B shares 

(9% of Class B shares) 

Kulbir (Rick) Johal 

Surrey, B.C. 

Principal Holder Nil 16 Class B shares 

(16% of Class B shares) 

16 Class B shares 

(16% of Class B 

shares) 

Arun Bansal 

Surrey, B.C. 

Principal Holder Nil 16 Class B shares 

(16% of Class B shares) 

16 Class B shares 

(16% of Class B 

shares) 

Malkiat Nagra 

Surrey, B.C. 

Principal Holder Nil 16 Class B shares 

(16% of Class B shares) 

16 Class B shares 

(16% of Class B 

shares) 

Financial Key 

Consulting Inc.
(4) 

Surrey, B.C. 

Manager and 

Promoter 

(i) $117,050 (2017) 

(ii) $200,000 (2018)
(5)

 

Nil Nil 

Notes: 

(1) Information as to municipality of residence has been provided by the individual directors and promoters. 

(2) Directly or indirectly. 

(3) There is no maximum offering. The percentage amounts have been adjusted based on the issuance of 10,000,000 Class A Shares, which the Corporation expects to 

issue during its current Fiscal Year. 

(4) Financial Key Consulting Inc. is controlled by Gurmeet Grewal, Rajvinder Pooni, Manpreet Gill, and Satpal Rai. 

(5) Estimated management fees based on the issuance of $10,000,000 in Class A Shares. 
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3.2 Management Experience  

The following table sets out the principal occupations of the directors and senior officers of the Corporation and 

Manager over the past five years and any relevant experience in a business similar to the Corporation’s: 

 

Name Principal occupation and related experience 

Gurmeet (Gary) Grewal, AMP 

Director and President of the 

Corporation  

Director and Secretary 

of the Manager 

Mr. Grewal has been a Director and the President of the Corporation since inception. In 

addition, he has been a Director and the Secretary of the Manager since inception. He has 

close to 20 years of experience in financing residential and commercial properties. He is a 

member of Mortgage Broker Association of BC (MBABC), Canadian Association of 

Accredited Mortgage Professionals (CAAMP) and the Sunrise Rotary, Richmond, BC and is 

an Accredited Mortgage Professional (AMP). Mr. Grewal started his career with Coast 

Capital Savings (formerly Surrey Metro Savings) in 1997 where he worked as a Mortgage 

Lending Officer. He joined The Mortgage Group as a mortgage broker in 2004 and moved 

over to Dominion Lending Centres in 2011. He services Richmond, Surrey, Burnaby, 

Vancouver, Delta, the Fraser Valley and various areas within the Greater Vancouver 

Regional Area. 

Rajvinder Pooni 

Director and Treasurer of the 

Corporation 

Director of the Manager 

Mrs. Pooni has been a Director and Treasurer of the Corporation as well as a Director of 

the Manager since 2014. She has over 20 years of banking and finance experience, 3 years 

of which were in compliance and 7 years in administration and has completed various 

financial industry courses including the Canadian Securities Course. Mrs. Pooni has been 

involved in the private lending industry since 2010 and for the past 5 years Mrs. Pooni has 

acted as Executive Administrator for the Corporation and manages the day-to-day 

operations. 

Manpreet Gill, 

Commercial Real Estate Advisor 

Director and Vice President of the 

Corporation 

Director of the Manager 

Mr. Gill has been a Director and the Vice President of the Corporation since inception. In 

addition, he has been a Director of the Manager since inception. He has over 15 years of 

experience in land assemblies, investment properties, commercial and residential real 

estate. He has developed several townhouse complexes, commercial complexes both 

within B.C. and Alberta. He is a member of National Association of Industrial and Office 

Properties (NAIOP), Certified Commercial Investment Management (CCIM) and Urban 

Development Institute (UDI). He is also currently the Vice President at Zenterra 

Developments, Principal at Lux Marketing, and President at CRE Advisory. 

Satpal Rai, CFP, BA Econ 

Director and Secretary 

of the Corporation  

Director and President 

of the Manager 

Ms. Rai has been a Director and the Secretary of the Corporation and a Director and 

President of the Manager since inception. She has over 20 years in the financial planning 

industry, serving individuals, small businesses and corporations, including evaluation of 

cash flow analysis, short term investments, risk management, retirement, educational and 

estate planning. She is a member of Advocis from 2000 to present and Financial Planners 

Standards Council from 2004 to present. She has been affiliated with a major bank from 

1992 to 1998, Quadrus Investments, Great West Life or similar firms and various mutual 

fund companies and insurance companies from 1998 to present. She holds mutual fund 

and insurance licenses within BC, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Ontario and Quebec. 

She has held private seminars on estate planning, financial planning, corporate share 

structures, cash flow and budget planning for individuals, families, and small business. Ms. 

Rai obtained her Bachelor of Arts, Economics in May 1998 and Certified Financial Planner 

designation in 2004.  

3.3 Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy 

(a) There has been no penalty or sanction that has been in effect during the last 10 years, or any cease 

trade order that has been in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days during the past 10 

years, against: 

(i) a director, executive officer or control person of the Corporation; or 

(ii) an issuer of which a person referred to in 3.3(a)(i) above was a director, executive officer or 

control person at that time. 
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(b) There has been no declaration of bankruptcy, voluntary assignment in bankruptcy, proposal under 

any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation, proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or 

appointment of a receiver, receiver manager or trustee to hold assets, that has been in effect during 

the last 10 years with regard to any: 

(i) director, executive officer or control person of the Corporation; or 

(ii) issuer of which a person referred to in 3.3(b)(i) above was a director, executive officer or 

control person at that time. 

3.4 Loans 

There are no debentures or loans due to or from the directors, management, promoters or principal holders of the 

Corporation as at the date of this Offering Memorandum. 

3.5 Promoter 

The Manager is considered to be the promoter of the Corporation by reason of its initiative in forming and establishing 

the Corporation and taking steps necessary for the distribution of the Class A Shares. The directors of the Manager are 

Gurmeet Singh Grewal, Rajvinder Kaur Pooni, Manpreet Singh Gill and Satpal Rai. The Manager will not receive any 

benefits, directly or indirectly from the issuance of the Class A Shares other than as described in this Offering 

Memorandum. 

ITEM 4 

CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

4.1 Capital Structure  

The following are the details of the capitalization of the Corporation as of the date of this Offering Memorandum: 

 

Description 

of Security 

Number 

Authorized 

to be Issued 

Price per 

Security 

Number 

Outstanding 

as at February 19, 

2018 

Number 

Outstanding 

after Minimum 

Offering 

Number 

Outstanding 

after Maximum 

Offering 

Class A Shares 
(1)

 Unlimited $1.00 6,364,763 6,364,763
(3)

 16,364,763
(4)

 

Class B shares 
(2)

 Unlimited $1.00 100 100 100 

Notes: 

(1) Complete details of the attributes and characteristics of the Class A Shares are set forth below under the heading “Terms of Class A Shares”. 

(2) The holders of the Class B shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend at and to vote in person or by proxy at any general meetings of the shareholders of 

the Corporation, and are entitled to cast one vote for each Class B share held. The holders of the Class B shares are entitled to a portion of any dividends as the 

directors may in their discretion from time to time declare out of the Annual Net Profits, as follows: (i) the holders of the Class A Shares shall be entitled in first 

priority to such dividends to the extent of the Preferred Class A Dividend (as defined herein); and if and to the extent that such dividends in any fiscal year exceed 

the Preferred Class A Dividend, then the holders of the Class B shares shall collectively be entitled to 25% of such excess dividends. 

(3) Assuming a minimum offering of nil Class A Shares. 

(4) There is no maximum offering.  The amount indicated, i.e., 10,000,000 Class A Shares, is an estimate of the Class A Shares that the Corporation expects to issue 

during its current Fiscal Year and is used for illustrative purposes. 

4.2 Long Term Debt 

The Corporation has no long term debt as at the date of this Offering Memorandum. However, in the future the 

Corporation may maintain a line of credit secured by a General Pledge of Mortgage with a Canadian chartered bank or 

credit union. 
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4.3 Prior Sales 

Within the last 12 months, the Corporation has issued the following Class A Shares: 

  Date of Issuance 

    Type of Security 

Issued 

Number of Securities 

Issued   Price per Security Total Funds Received 

07-Mar-17 Class A Shares 20,000.00  $1.00  $     20,000.00  

07-Mar-17 Class A Shares 8,333.33  $1.00  $       8,333.33  

07-Mar-17 Class A Shares 8,333.33  $1.00  $       8,333.33  

07-Mar-17 Class A Shares 8,333.34  $1.00  $       8,333.34  

07-Mar-17 Class A Shares 1,200.00  $1.00  $       1,200.00  

07-Mar-17 Class A Shares 5,500.00  $1.00  $       5,500.00  

07-Mar-17 Class A Shares 5,500.00  $1.00  $       5,500.00  

23-Mar-17 Class A Shares 65,000.00  $1.00  $     65,000.00  

31-Mar-17 Class A Shares 73,883.85  $1.00  $     73,883.85  

19-Apr-17 Class A Shares 12,870.00  $1.00  $     12,870.00  

24-Apr-17 Class A Shares 140,000.00  $1.00  $   140,000.00  

24-Apr-17 Class A Shares 25,000.00  $1.00  $     25,000.00  

27-Apr-17 Class A Shares 9,873.84  $1.00  $       9,873.84  

19-May-17 Class A Shares 43,048.09  $1.00  $     43,048.09  

19-May-17 Class A Shares 3,275.00  $1.00  $       3,275.00  

29-Jun-17 Class A Shares 15,000.00  $1.00  $     15,000.00  

07-Jul-17 Class A Shares 19,895.00  $1.00  $     19,895.00  

21-Jul-17 Class A Shares 5,000.00  $1.00  $       5,000.00  

16-Aug-17 Class A Shares 6,000.00  $1.00  $       6,000.00  

27-Oct-17 Class A Shares 20,000.00  $1.00  $     20,000.00  

01-Dec-17 Class A Shares 15,395.00  $1.00  $     15,395.00  

01-Dec-17 Class A Shares 10,000.00  $1.00  $     10,000.00  

01-Dec-17 Class A Shares 2,500.00  $1.00  $       2,500.00  

08-Jan-18 Class A Shares 50,000.00  $1.00  $     50,000.00  

08-Jan-18 Class A Shares 2,748.03  $1.00  $       2,748.03  

22-Jan-17 Class A Shares 5,000.00  $1.00  $       5,000.00  

23-Jan-17 Class A Shares 4,000.00  $1.00  $       4,000.00  

23-Jan-17 Class A Shares 4,000.00  $1.00  $       4,000.00  

Redemptions 

Within the last 24 months, the Corporation has redeemed the following Class A Shares for cash: 

 

Date of 

Redemption 

Type of 

Security Redeemed 

Number of 

Securities Redeemed Price per Security Total Funds Paid 

27-Apr-16 Class A Shares 2,625.00 $1.00 $ 2,625.00 

29-Apr-16 Class A Shares 54,007.00 $1.00 $ 54,007.00 

23-Jun-16 Class A Shares 10,000.00 $1.00 $ 10,000.00 

26-Jun-16 Class A Shares 26,866.15 $1.00 $ 26,866.15 

12-Jan-17 Class A Shares 50,000.00             $1.00 $ 50,000.00 
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Date of 

Redemption 

Type of 

Security Redeemed 

Number of 

Securities Redeemed Price per Security Total Funds Paid 

19-Jan-17 Class A Shares 3,700.00             $1.00 $ 3,700.00 

      4-Apr-17 Class A Shares         3,876.66              $1.00 $     3,876.66 

     5-May-17 Class A Shares         2,195.00              $1.00 $     2,195.00 

      6-Jun-17 Class A Shares       52,298.72              $1.00 $   52,298.72 

    23-Aug-17 Class A Shares       70,000.00              $1.00 $   70,000.00 

Total  $275,568.53  $ 275,568.53 

ITEM 5 

SECURITIES OFFERED 

5.1 Terms of Class A Shares  

There is no minimum offering and no maximum offering. The Corporation expects to issue 10,000,000 Class A Shares 

during its current Fiscal Year. The minimum number of Class A Shares that may be subscribed for by any one 

Subscriber is 5,000 Class A Shares at a subscription price of $1.00 per Class A Share for a total of $5,000. The 

Corporation may permit investments of less than $5,000 from time to time. The Class A Shares have a par value of 

$1.00 and have the following material terms: 

Non-Voting 

The Class A Shares are non-voting and the holders of the Class A Shares are not entitled to receive notice of or to 

attend any general meetings of the shareholders of the Corporation. 

Dividends 

Subject to the provisions of the BCBCA, the holders of the Class A Shares are entitled to a portion of any dividends as 

the directors may in their discretion from time to time declare out of the Annual Net Profits, as follows: 

(i) the holders of the Class A Shares will have a non-cumulative entitlement in first priority to any 

dividends declared by the directors in each Fiscal Year to the extent of 9% of the Subscription Price 

(the “Preferred Class A Dividend”); and 

(ii) if and to the extent that such dividends in any Fiscal Year exceed the Preferred Class A Dividend, 

then the holders of the Class A Shares will be collectively entitled to 75% of such excess dividends. 

The holders of the Class A Shares are not entitled to any dividends other than or in excess of the dividends set out 

above. 

Such dividends, if any, will be declared and paid not less frequently than annually within 90 days of the end the 

Corporation’s Fiscal Year. Class A Shareholders may elect to receive such dividends as cash or reinvested as additional 

shares. 

For greater certainty, although the Corporation intends to pay dividends on the applicable Dividend Payment Date, 

each distribution declared pursuant to the Articles of the Corporation constitutes a binding obligation of the 

Corporation on the applicable Calculation Date. To the extent distributions are calculated in respect of a period and 

payable at the end of such period, if for any reason, including the dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, such 

period is not completed or such amounts are no longer payable, then the distribution will be pro-rated to the end of 

the shortened period and be payable at the end of such shortened period. 

The Corporation intends to distribute all of the net income and net realized capital gains, if any, of the Corporation to 

its shareholders by way of dividends, so that the Corporation will not be liable to pay income tax pursuant to the Tax 

Act during any year. 
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Redemption Rights 

Subject to the Articles, the Corporation will, upon receiving a Notice of Redemption from a holder of the Class A 

Shares, redeem the number of the Class A Shares registered in the name of the said holder which are specified in the 

Notice of Redemption by paying to such holder for each such Class A Share to be redeemed: 

(i) the Redemption Amount (as defined herein) in respect thereof; 

(ii) all dividends declared and unpaid, including any from previous Fiscal Years, in respect thereon; and 

(iii) an additional dividend calculated as the interest on the Redemption Amount that would be earned 

from the first day of the current Fiscal Year to the date of payment at the average interest rate of 

the Bank of Canada Treasury Bills for the preceding 12 months plus 4%, to a maximum of 6%, such 

amount being in lieu of participation in any end of year or future dividend declared within such Fiscal 

Year, 

less an administrative fee of $125 per Notice of Redemption, regardless of the number of Class A Shares redeemed. 

The Corporation will pay all such amounts on the later of; (a) before the date that is 90 days after receipt of the Notice 

of Redemption or (b) whenever such funds are readily available as cash to the Corporation, in the absolute discretion 

of the directors, whichever date is the latter. 

The “Redemption Amount” of each Class A Share means an amount equal to the lesser of the Net Asset Value per 

Class A Share and the Subscription Price, multiplied by: 

(i) 98%, if the Notice of Redemption for the redemption of that Class A Share is received by the 

Corporation within one year after the Subscription Date thereof, plus any dividends accumulated or 

declared thereon but unpaid as at the date a Notice of Redemption is received in respect of that 

Class A Share; 

(ii) 99%, if the Notice of Redemption for the redemption of that Class A Share is received by the 

Corporation at any time after the first anniversary of the Subscription Date thereof and up to and 

including the second anniversary of the Subscription Date thereof, plus any dividends accumulated 

or declared thereon but unpaid as at the date a Notice of Redemption is received in respect of that 

Class A Share; 

(iii) 100%, if the Notice of Redemption for the redemption of that Class A Share is received by the 

Corporation: 

A. at any time after the second anniversary of the Subscription Date thereof, or 

B. notwithstanding subparagraphs (i) or (ii), at any time prior to the second anniversary of the 

Subscription Date thereof, if the directors so determine in their absolute discretion, 

plus any dividends accumulated or declared thereon but unpaid as at the date a Notice of 

Redemption is received in respect of that Class A Share. 

The obligation of the Corporation to redeem any Class A Shares is subject to the following: 

(i) the directors of the Corporation will determine, in their sole discretion, whether sufficient funds are 

available to the Corporation for the redemption of any Class A Shares, and if the directors of the 

Corporation determine, in their sole discretion, that sufficient funds are not available to pay for the 

redemption of any Class A Shares, then the redemption of the Class A Shares will be delayed until 

the directors of the Corporation determine that sufficient funds are available; 
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(ii) Class A Shares are not redeemable if the Corporation is insolvent or if the redemption of such Class A 

Shares would render the Corporation insolvent; 

(iii) Class A Shares are not redeemable if the redemption of such Class A Shares would result in the 

Corporation not qualifying as a mortgage investment corporation under the Tax Act;  

(iv) on any redemption date, the Corporation will not redeem any Class A Shares in excess of 10% of the 

total number of Class A Shares issued and outstanding on the first day of the Fiscal Year during which 

the Notices of Redemption were received; 

(v) Class A Shares will be redeemed in the order that the Notices of Redemption in respect thereof have 

been received by the Corporation; and 

(vi) any redemption of Class A Shares of the Corporation need not be made on a pro rata basis among 

every person holding the Class A Shares. 

If any redemptions of the Class A Shares are delayed for any of the reasons set forth in conditions (i) through (vi) 

above, when the directors of the Corporation determine that the Corporation may resume redemption of the Class A 

Shares, the delayed redemptions shall be completed in the order that the Notices of Redemption in respect thereof 

have been received by the Corporation. 

Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding Up 

In the event of the liquidation or dissolution of the Corporation or other distribution of the assets of the Corporation 

among its shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the 

Class A Shares will be entitled, before any distribution or payment of any amounts due to holders of the Class B 

shares, to receive the Redemption Amount in respect of each Class A Share held together with all dividends declared 

and unpaid thereon, and after such payment and after the payment to the holders of the Class B shares of the amount 

paid-up on their Class B shares, to participate rateably with the holders of the Class B shares in the distribution of all of 

the remaining property and assets of the Corporation. 

Certificates 

The Corporation will issue formal share certificates for Class A Shares which will be held in the Corporation’s minute 

book, unless the Class A Shares are registered in the name of a registered investment account. If Class A Shares are 

registered in the name of a registered investment account, then such Class A Shares will be delivered to the agent of 

the registered investment account. Certificates will be produced on every Thursday of the month. 

Constraints on Transferability 

The Corporation’s Articles provide that no shares may be sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of without the 

consent of the directors and the directors are not required to give any reason for refusing to consent to any such sale, 

transfer or other disposition. 

The directors intend to refuse registration of an allotment or any transfer of shares which would result in the 

Corporation ceasing to meet the qualifications of a mortgage investment corporation. See also Item 10 “Resale 

Restrictions” for further restrictions on transferability of the Corporation’s Class A Shares. 

5.2 Subscription Procedure 

The Class A Shares are being offered for sale in the Province of British Columbia. The Class A Shares are conditionally 

offered if, as and when subscriptions are accepted by the Corporation and subject to prior sale. Subscriptions for Class 

A Shares will be received by the Corporation subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part and the right is 

reserved to close the subscription books at any time without notice. The Corporation may terminate the Offering at 

any time. Closings may occur from time to time as determined by the Corporation. 
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The minimum number of Class A Shares that may be subscribed for by any one Subscriber is 5,000 Class A Shares at a 

subscription price of $1.00 per Class A Share for a total of $5,000. The Corporation may permit investments of less 

than $5,000 from time to time. 

This Offering is being made in accordance with certain statutory prospectus and, if applicable, registration exemptions 

contained in securities legislation in British Columbia. Such exemptions relieve the Corporation from provisions under 

such statutes requiring the Corporation to file a prospectus and, if applicable, to utilize a registered securities dealer to 

sell the Class A Shares. As such, investors will not receive the benefits associated with the involvement of such 

registrants or the benefits associated with purchasing the Class A Shares pursuant to a filed prospectus, including the 

review of the material by the securities commissions or similar regulatory authority in such jurisdictions. 

The Class A Shares are being offered on a continuous basis pursuant to exemptions from the prospectus and, where 

applicable, registration requirements of applicable securities legislation. In order to subscribe for Class A Shares, 

investors must be within one of the following categories: 

(a) an “accredited investor” as such term is defined in National Instrument 45-106 (“NI 45-106”); or 

(b) one of the following: 

(i) a director, executive officer or control person of the Corporation, or of an Affiliate of the 

Corporation; 

(ii) a spouse, parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of a director, executive 

officer or control person of the Corporation, or of an Affiliate of the Corporation; 

(iii) a parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of the spouse of a director, 

executive officer or control person of the Corporation or of an Affiliate of the Corporation; 

(iv) a close personal friend of a director, executive officer or control person of the Corporation, 

or of an Affiliate of the Corporation; 

(v) a close business associate of a director, executive officer or control person of the 

Corporation, or of an Affiliate of the Corporation; 

(vi) a founder of the Corporation or a spouse, parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child, 

grandchild, close personal friend or close business associate of a founder of the 

Corporation; 

(vii) a parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of a spouse of a founder of the 

Corporation; 

(viii) a person of which a majority of the voting securities are beneficially owned by, or a majority 

of the directors are, persons described in paragraphs (i) to (vii); or 

(ix) a trust or estate of which all of the beneficiaries or a majority of the trustees or executors 

are persons described in paragraphs (i) to (vii), 

provided that no sales fee will be payable in respect of the distribution of Class A Shares to any such 

person; or 

(c) a subscriber resident in British Columbia, and acknowledges having received and read a copy of this 

Offering Memorandum; or 

(d) a non-individual subscriber acquiring Class A Shares that have an aggregate Subscription Price of not 

less than $150,000. 
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, Class A Shares may be issued pursuant to other available exemptions from the 

prospectus requirements of applicable securities legislation provided the conditions of such exemptions are satisfied. 

Investors may subscribe for Class A Shares by returning to the Manager at 216 – 2630 Croydon Drive, Surrey, British 

Columbia V3Z 6T3 or such other address as specified by the Manager the following: 

(e) a completed Subscription Agreement (the Corporation reserves the right to use different 

Subscription Agreements for different Subscribers); and 

(f) a certified cheque or bank draft in an amount appropriate for the number of Class A Shares 

subscribed for, payable to “Financial Key Mortgage Corporation”. 

Each investor will be required to sign two copies of a Risk Acknowledgment (Form 45-106F4), attached as an appendix 

to the Subscription Agreement before signing the Subscription Agreement, in accordance with the requirements of NI 

45-106, and, if applicable, two copies of such other Risk Acknowledgements as may be required by the Corporation 

(including the risk acknowledgement attached as Appendix A to BCI 32-517 in the event that Class A Shares are sold 

pursuant to the dealer registration exemption contained in such instrument). Each investor that is an individual that is 

relying on the “accredited investor” exemption in Section 2.3 of NI 45-106 will also be required to sign two copies of a 

Risk Acknowledgment Form (Form 45-106F9), in accordance with the requirements of NI 45-106.  In accordance with 

the requirements of NI 45-106, the Corporation will hold the subscription monies advanced by each investor in trust 

for the investor until midnight on the second business day after the Subscription Agreement is signed by the investor. 

The  

Subscriptions received will be subject to rejection or allotment by the Corporation in whole or in part in the 

Corporation’s sole discretion. The Corporation is not obligated to accept any subscription, and will reject any 

subscription which the Corporation considers to be not in compliance with applicable securities laws and regulations. 

If any subscription is not accepted, the Corporation will promptly return to the subscriber the Subscription Agreement 

and the money comprising such subscription, so long as the funds have been cleared with the Corporation’s trust 

account. Upon acceptance, the subscription funds for the Class A Shares will be deposited in a designated bank 

account. Upon the Class A Shares having been issued, the subscription funds will be made available to the Corporation 

for use in its business as set out in this Offering Memorandum. Confirmation of acceptance of a subscription will be 

forwarded to the Subscriber by the Corporation. 

The Class A Shares have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as 

amended, and subject to certain exceptions, may not be offered or sold in the United States. 

Trading and Resale Restrictions 

The Offering is made only on a private placement basis to investors who are eligible to purchase on an exempt basis 

under, and subject to compliance with, applicable securities laws. There is no market for the Class A Shares. The 

transferability of the Class A Shares will also be subject to resale restrictions under applicable securities laws. The 

Corporation will be entitled to require and may require, as a condition of allowing any transfer of any Class A Share, 

the transferor or transferee, at their expense, to furnish to the Corporation evidence satisfactory to it in form and 

substance (which may include an opinion of counsel satisfactory to the Corporation) in order to establish that such 

transfer will not constitute a violation of the securities laws of any jurisdiction whose securities laws are applicable 

thereto. 

The Corporation is not currently a reporting issuer in any of the Provinces of Canada. The Class A Shares will be subject 

to resale restrictions under applicable securities laws which restrict the transfer of Class A Shares. Notwithstanding 

such resale restrictions, and subject to approval by the Corporation, investors will be able to transfer Class A Shares to 

another person pursuant to another exemption from the prospectus and registration requirements of applicable 

securities laws, or pursuant to an order permitting such trade granted by applicable Securities Authorities. 

This Offering Memorandum and all subscription documents should be reviewed by prospective Subscribers and 

their professional advisers prior to subscribing for Class A Shares. 
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ITEM 6  

INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES AND RRSP / TFSA ELIGIBILITY 

6.1 General 

In the opinion of management of the Corporation, the following sets out a summary of the principal Canadian federal 

income tax consequences of acquiring, holding and disposing of the Class A Shares by a Subscriber who, at all relevant 

times, is a resident of Canada, deals with the Corporation at arm’s length, and who acquires and holds the Class A 

Shares as capital property. This summary is not applicable to any Class A Shareholder which is a “financial institution” 

or “specified financial institution” as defined in the Tax Act, or to any holder of Class A Shares an interest in which is a 

“tax shelter investment” for the purposes of the Tax Act. 

This summary is based upon the current provisions of the Tax Act, the regulations made under the Tax Act (the “Tax 

Regulations”), all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act and the Tax Regulations publicly announced by or on behalf 

of the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date of this Offering Memorandum and the current published 

administrative practices of Canada Revenue Agency. This summary assumes that all such tax proposals will be enacted 

as currently proposed but does not take into account or anticipate any other changes in law whether by legislative, 

government or judicial action and does not take into account tax legislation or considerations of any province, 

territory or foreign jurisdiction. 

You should consult your own professional advisors to obtain advice on the income tax consequences that apply to you. 

The summary contained in this section is of a general nature only and is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal 

income tax consequences. It is not intended to be and should not be interpreted as legal or tax advice to any particular 

subscriber. You should consult with your own tax advisor regarding the income tax consequences to you of acquiring, 

holding and disposing of the Class A Shares including the application and effect of the income and other tax laws of 

any country, province, state or local tax authority. 

6.2 Status as a Mortgage Investment Corporation 

This summary is based on the assumption that the Corporation qualifies as a mortgage investment corporation under 

the Tax Act. The Corporation will qualify as a mortgage investment corporation throughout a taxation year of the 

Corporation if throughout that taxation year: 

(a) the Corporation is a Canadian corporation as defined in the Tax Act; 

(b) the Corporation’s only undertaking is the investing of funds and it did not manage or develop any 

real or immovable property; 

(c) no debts are owed to the Corporation that are secured on real or immovable property situated 

outside of Canada; 

(d) no debts are owed to the Corporation by non-residents, other than debts secured on real or 

immovable property situated in Canada; 

(e) the Corporation does not own shares of any corporation not resident in Canada; 

(f) the Corporation does not own real or immovable property located outside of Canada or any 

leasehold interest in such property; 

(g) the Corporation has at least 20 shareholders; 
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(h) no person is a “specified shareholder” of the Corporation, as that term is defined in 248(1) of the Tax 

Act and modified by paragraph 130.1(6)(d) of the Tax Act, which generally means a person who 

alone or together with the person’s spouse, children under the age of 18, and other related parties, 

owns more than 25% of the issued shares of any class of the Corporation; 

(i) any holders of preferred Shares (as defined in the Tax Act) of the Corporation (if any) have a right, 

after payment to them of their preferred dividends, and payment of dividends in a like amount per 

share to the holders of the Class B shares to participate pari passu with the holders of Class B shares 

in any further payment of dividends; 

(j) the cost amount of the Corporation’s property represented by Loans that are secured by Mortgages 

on houses (as that term is defined in section 2 of the National Housing Act), or on property included 

within a housing project (as that term is defined in section 2 of the National Housing Act as it read 

on June 16, 1999), together with cash on hand and deposits with a bank or any other lender whose 

deposits are insured by the Canada Deposit Insurance Company or a credit union, (collectively, the 

“Qualifying Property”) is at least 50% of the cost amount to it of all of its property; 

(k) the cost amount of real or immovable property (including leasehold interests therein but excluding 

real or immovable property acquired as a consequence of foreclosure or defaults on a Mortgage 

held by the Corporation) owned by the Corporation does not exceed 25% of the cost amount to it of 

all of its property; and 

(l) where at any time in the year the cost amount to the Corporation of its Qualifying Property is less 

than 2/3 of the cost amount to it of all of its property, the Corporation’s liabilities throughout the 

year do not exceed three times the amount by which the cost amount to it of all of its property 

exceed its liabilities or, where throughout the taxation year the cost amount to the Corporation of its 

Qualifying Property equals or exceeds 2/3 of the cost amount of all of its property, the Corporation’s 

liabilities do not exceed five times the amount by which the cost amount to it of all of its property 

exceed its liabilities. 

It is intended, and this summary assumes, that these requirements will be satisfied so that the Corporation will qualify 

as a mortgage investment corporation at all relevant times. If the Corporation were not to qualify as a mortgage 

investment corporation, the income tax consequences would be materially different from those described below.  

6.3 Taxation of the Corporation 

As a mortgage investment corporation, the Corporation will, in computing its taxable income, generally be entitled to 

deduct the full amount of all taxable dividends (other than capital gains dividends) which it pays during the year or 

within 90 days after the end of the year to the extent that such dividends were not deductible by the Corporation in 

computing its income for the preceding year. As a mortgage investment corporation is deemed to be a public 

company, the Corporation cannot pay capital dividends. However, a mortgage investment corporation may declare a 

capital gains dividend in an amount equal to the gross amount of its capital gains and is entitled to deduct half of such 

dividend from its taxable income. As discussed below, a capital gains dividend is taxed in the hands of a Class A 

Shareholder as a capital gain arising from a notional disposition of capital property. The combination of the 

Corporation’s deduction for capital gains dividends and the Class A Shareholder’s deemed capital gain will allow the 

Corporation to flow capital gains through to a Class A Shareholder on a tax efficient basis. As it is deemed to be a 

public company, the Corporation will be subject to tax at the highest corporate rates. However, at this time, the 

Corporation intends to declare dividends and capital gains dividends each year in sufficient amounts to reduce its 

taxable income to nil. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Corporation may retain earnings as it may deem advisable. 
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6.4 Taxation of Class A Shareholders 

Dividends other than capital gains dividends which are paid by the Corporation on the Class A Shares will be included 

in the income of a Class A Shareholder as interest. Capital gains dividends received by a Class A Shareholder will be 

treated as a realized capital gain, and will be subject to the general rules relating to the taxation of capital gains. The 

normal gross-up and dividend tax credit rules do not apply to dividends paid on Class A Shares to individuals and 

trusts, and corporate holders of the Class A Shares will not be entitled to deduct the amount of any dividends paid on 

their Class A Shares from their taxable income.  

The cost to a Subscriber of Class A Shares acquired pursuant to the Offering will equal the purchase price of the Class A 

Shares plus the amount of any other reasonable costs incurred in connection therewith. This cost will be averaged 

with the cost of all other Class A Shares held by the Class A Shareholder to determine the adjusted cost base of each 

Class A Share. 

A disposition or a deemed disposition of Class A Shares (other than to the Corporation) will give rise to a capital gain 

(or capital loss) to the extent that the proceeds of disposition of the Class A Shares exceed (or are exceeded by) the 

adjusted cost base of the Class A Shares and the disposition costs. Amounts paid by the Corporation on the 

redemption or acquisition by it of a Class A Share, up to the paid-up capital thereof, will be treated as proceeds of 

disposition. Any amount paid by the Corporation on the redemption or acquisition of a Class A Share which is in excess 

of the paid-up capital of such Class A Share will be deemed to be a dividend and will be included in the income of a 

holder of Class A Shares, in accordance with the rules described above. 

Fifty percent of any capital gain realized by a Class A Shareholder (including capital gains deemed to be realized as a 

result of a receipt of a capital gains dividend) will be included in the Class A Shareholder’s income under the Tax Act as 

a taxable capital gain. Subject to certain specific rules in the Tax Act, one-half of any capital loss realized in a taxation 

year may be deducted against any taxable capital gains realized by the Class A Shareholder in that year, in the three 

preceding taxation years or in any subsequent taxation year. 

The taxable capital gains realized by a Class A Shareholder that is an individual may give rise to alternative minimum 

tax depending upon the Class A Shareholder’s circumstances. A Class A Shareholder that is a “Canadian-controlled 

private company” (as defined in the Tax Act) may be liable to pay an additional refundable tax of 10
2
/3% on certain 

investment income, including amounts in respect of interest and taxable capital gains. The 10
2
/3% tax is to be added to 

such Corporation’s refundable dividend tax on-hand account and will be eligible for refund at a rate of 38 
1
/3% of 

dividends paid by the Corporation. 

6.5 Eligibility for Investment by Deferred Plans 

The Class A Shares will be qualified investments for a trust governed by a registered retirement savings plan (“RRSP”),  

registered retirement income fund (“RRIF”), tax-free savings account (“TFSA”), registered education savings plan 

(“RESP”), or registered disability savings plan (“RDSP”) (any of the foregoing a “Deferred Plan”) at a particular time if 

the Corporation qualifies as a mortgage investment corporation under the Tax Act at such particular time and if 

throughout the calendar year in which the particular time occurs, the Corporation does not hold as part of its property 

any indebtedness, whether by way of Mortgage or otherwise, of a person who is an annuitant, a beneficiary, an 

employer, a subscriber, or a holder, as the case may be, of or under the relevant Deferred Plan or of any other person 

who does not deal at arm’s length with that person. Deferred Plans will generally not be liable for tax in respect of any 

dividends received from the Corporation. 

If the Class A Shares cease to be a qualified investment for a Deferred Plan, the Deferred Plan will be subject to a 

penalty tax.  

Notwithstanding that the Class A Shares may be qualified investments for a trust governed by a RRSP, RRIF or TFSA, 

the annuitant of a RRSP or RRIF, the holder of a TFSA or RDSP, or the subscriber of a RESP will be subject to a penalty 

tax if the Class A Shares are a “prohibited investment” for their Deferred Plan for the purposes of the Tax Act. The 

Class A Shares will generally not be a “prohibited investment” for a particular Deferred Plan provided that the 

annuitant, holder or subscriber of the Deferred Plan deals at arm’s length with the Corporation for the purposes of the 
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Tax Act and does not have a “significant interest”, as defined in the Tax Act, in the Corporation. Generally, an 

annuitant or holder will have a significant interest in the Corporation if the Deferred Plan, the annuitant or holder, and 

other persons not at arm’s length with the annuitant or holder together, directly or indirectly, own more than 10% of 

any class of shares of the Corporation or of any other corporation that is related to the Corporation for the purposes 

of the Tax Act.  Prospective purchasers who intend to hold Class A Shares in a RRSP, RRIF or TFSA are urged to 

consult their own tax advisors to ensure that the Class A Shares would not constitute a “prohibited investment” in 

their particular circumstances. 

The Corporation is making the income tax disclosure contained in this Item 6, but it makes no other warranties or 

representations, implied or otherwise, with respect to taxation issues. If the Corporation were not to qualify as a 

mortgage investment corporation, the income tax consequences would be materially different from those 

described in this Item 6. 

Subscribers should consult with their own tax advisor regarding the income tax consequences of acquiring, holding 

and disposing of the Class A Shares, including the application and effect of the income and other tax laws of any 

country, province, state or local tax authority. 

ITEM 7 

COMPENSATION PAID TO SELLERS AND FINDERS 

The Manager, the Corporation and their respective directors, officers and employees will sell the Class A Shares. No 

acquisition charge is payable to the Manager in respect of orders to purchase Class A Shares of the Corporation. 

Where lawfully permitted, the Corporation may pay a sales fee to registered securities dealers and exempt market 

dealers, or where permitted, non-registrants, in an amount not to exceed a total of 4% of the subscription monies 

obtained by such persons. The sales fee is comprised of a 2.00% initial commission fee at the time of subscription, as 

well as 1.00% trailing commissions for two years if the funds are held at each year end. Assuming the issuance of 

10,000,000 Class A Shares hereunder, such sales fee would not exceed $400,000. The Corporation has not engaged 

any such party at this time. 

ITEM 8 

RISK FACTORS 

General 

There are certain risks inherent in an investment in the Class A Shares and in the activities of the Corporation which 

investors should carefully consider before investing in the Class A Shares, including: credit risk of mortgagors; general 

risks associated with Real Property ownership in the event that the Corporation has to foreclose on a Mortgage; 

illiquidity of real estate investments in such a foreclosure situation; environmental liability; restrictions on 

redemptions of Class A Shares; lack of availability of growth opportunities; potential conflicts of interest; legal rights 

attaching to Class A Shares; availability of cash for distribution; fluctuations in cash distributions; the impact of 

redemptions on the availability of cash for distribution; risk in respect of the market price of Class A Shares; dilution; 

the risk of the Corporation’s reliance on key personnel; risk factors relating to the Corporation’s tax status; and other 

tax related risk factors. The risks described below may not be the only risks involved with an investment in the Class A 

Shares. If any of the following risks occur, or if others occur, the Corporation’s business, operating results and financial 

condition could be seriously harmed and Class A Shareholders may lose some or all of their investment. Risks affecting 

the Corporation may affect the ability to make distributions on the Class A Shares. In addition to the risk factors set 

forth elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum, prospective purchasers should consider the following risks associated 

with a purchase of Class A Shares. Purchasers should consult their own professional advisors to assess the income tax, 

legal and other aspects of an investment in the Class A Shares. 
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No Guaranteed Return 

Although investments in Mortgages will be carefully chosen by the Corporation, there is no representation made by 

the Corporation that such investments will have a guaranteed return to Class A Shareholders, and that losses will not 

be incurred by the Corporation in respect of such investments. This Offering is not suitable for investors who cannot 

afford to assume significant risks in connection with their investments. 

Nature of Mortgage Backed Investments 

Investments in Mortgages are affected by general economic conditions, local real estate markets, demand for leased 

premises, fluctuation in occupancy rates and operating expenses, and various other factors. The value of a real estate 

property may ultimately depend on the credit and financial stability of the tenants. Investments in Mortgages are 

relatively illiquid. Such illiquidity will tend to limit the Corporation’s ability to change its portfolio promptly in response 

to changing economic or investment conditions. Investments in Mortgages on Real Properties under development 

may be riskier than investments in Mortgages on existing Real Properties. 

Composition of the Mortgage Portfolio 

The composition of the Corporation’s Mortgage portfolio may vary widely from time to time and may be concentrated 

by type of security, industry or geography, resulting in the Mortgage portfolio being less diversified than anticipated. 

Further, the Corporation expects that it will mainly earn revenue through interest and fees earned from Loans made 

to the Zenterra or to Affiliates thereof. A lack of diversification may result in the Corporation being exposed to 

economic downturns or other events that have an adverse and disproportionate effect on particular types of security, 

industry or geography. Construction loans and/or development loans and Loans where the Corporation is participating 

in the profits of the venture of the borrower are also generally considered more risky and therefore if there is a 

disproportionate high amount of such loans in the Mortgage portfolio the riskiness of this investment may increase. 

Availability of Mortgage Investments 

The ability of the Corporation to make investments in Mortgages in accordance with its investment policies will 

depend upon the availability of suitable investments and the amount of Mortgages available. The Corporation will 

compete with individuals, partnerships, companies, trusts and institutions for the investment in the financing of Real 

Properties. Many of these competitors have greater resources than the Corporation or operate with greater flexibility. 

Renewal of Mortgages 

There can be no assurance that any of the Mortgages comprising the Corporation’s Mortgage portfolio from time to 

time can or will be renewed at the same interest rates and terms, or in the same amounts as are currently in effect. 

With respect to each Mortgage comprising the Mortgage portfolio, it is possible that the mortgagor, the mortgagee or 

both, will not elect to renew such Mortgage. In addition, if the Mortgages in the Mortgage portfolio are renewed, the 

principal balance of such renewals, the interest rates and the other terms and conditions of such Mortgages will be 

subject to negotiations between the mortgagors and the mortgagees at the time of renewal. 

Competition 

The Corporation will be competing for investments with individuals, corporations and institutions (both Canadian and 

foreign) which are seeking or may seek investments similar to those desired by the Corporation. Many of these 

institutions/individuals will have greater financial resources than those of the Corporation, or operate without the 

investment or operating restrictions of the Corporation or according to more flexible conditions. An increase in the 

availability of investment funds and an increase in interest in such investments may increase competition for those 

investments, thereby increasing purchase prices and reducing the yield on the investments. 
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Changes in Legislation 

There can be no assurance that income tax laws and government incentive programs relating to the real estate 

industry will not be changed in a manner which adversely affects the Corporation or distributions received by its 

security holders. 

Borrowing 

The Corporation may from time to time borrow funds to increase the Mortgage portfolio. Borrowings would be 

secured by Mortgages in the Corporation’s portfolio. This could increase the risk of the Corporation’s insolvency. 

Subordinate and Non-Conventional Financing 

Any subordinate financing which may be carried on by the Corporation is generally considered a higher risk than 

primary financing. Mortgages will be secured by a charge which is in a first or subsequent-ranking position upon or in 

the underlying real estate. When a charge on a Real Property is in a position other than first-ranking on a Real 

Property, it is possible for the holder of a prior charge on the Real Property, if the borrower is in default under the 

terms of its obligations to such holder, to take a number of actions against the borrower and ultimately against the 

Real Property in order to realize the security given for his or her loan. Such actions may include a foreclosure action, or 

an action forcing the Real Property to be sold. A foreclosure action may have the ultimate effect of depriving any 

person having other than a first-ranking charge the security of the Real Property. If an action is taken to sell the Real 

Property and sufficient proceeds are not realized from such sale to pay off all creditors who have prior charges on the 

property, the holder of a subsequent charge may lose his or her investment or part thereof to the extent of such 

deficiency, unless he or she can otherwise recover such deficiency from other property owned by the debtor. The 

Corporation may make investments in Mortgages where the Loan exceeds 75% of the value of the Real Property which 

is mortgaged, which exceeds the typical investment limit for conventional mortgage lending. 

Conflicts of Interest 

The Manager and the Corporation are Affiliates and negotiations between them have not been, and will not be, 

conducted at arm’s length. Therefore, the Corporation will be subject to various conflicts of interest arising from its 

relationship with the Manager, Affiliates of the Manager, and the officers and directors thereof. In addition, there may 

be situations where the interests of the Corporation or its shareholders conflict with the interests of the officers and 

directors of the Manager. The risk exists that such conflicts will not be resolved in the best interests of the Corporation 

and the Class A Shareholders. However, the Manager will make any decision involving the Corporation or the Class A 

Shareholders in accordance with its duty to deal honestly and in good faith. 

The Net Subscription Proceeds will be invested in Loans primarily to Zenterra projects. Transactions between the 

Corporation and one or more of the Zenterra entities may be entered into without the benefit of arm’s length 

bargaining. Therefore, situations may arise in which either or both of the Corporation or Manager may be making 

determinations which could benefit itself or themselves, its or their Affiliates or its officers or directors to the 

detriment of the Corporation or the Class A Shareholders. Therefore, there will be situations where the interests of 

the Corporation or its shareholders conflict with the interests of the officers and directors of the Manager and of the 

borrowers of the Loans. The risk exists that such conflicts will not be resolved in the best interests of the Corporation 

and the shareholders. 

Reliance on Management 

To the extent that the Corporation invests in real estate properties, Class A Shareholders will be relying on the good 

faith and expertise of the Manager and its principals in selecting such investments and negotiating the pricing and 

other terms of the agreements leading to the acquisition of such investments. 
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Other Activities of the Manager 

The Manager is not in any way limited or affected in its ability to carry on business ventures for its own account and 

for the account of others and may be engaged in the ownership, acquisition and operation of businesses which 

compete with the Corporation. In addition, the Manager and its Affiliates may establish in the future other investment 

vehicles which have or may have investment objectives that are the same as or similar to those of the Corporation and 

to act as adviser and/or Manager to such vehicles. 

Marketability of Class A Shares 

There is currently no market for the Class A Shares and it is not anticipated that any market will develop. The Class A 

Shares are not transferable, except as approved by the Corporation. Consequently, holders of such Class A Shares may 

not be able to sell them readily, and Class A Shares may not be readily accepted as collateral for a loan. Subscribers 

should be prepared to hold these Class A Shares indefinitely and cannot expect to be able to liquidate their investment 

even in the case of an emergency. Accordingly, an investment in Class A Shares is only suitable for persons able to 

make and bear the economic risk of a long-term investment. See Item 10 “Resale Restrictions”. 

The Corporation does not presently intend to qualify its securities for sale to the public by way of prospectus. 

The Class A Shares are not Insured 

The Corporation is not a member institution of the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation and the Class A Shares 

offered pursuant to this Offering Memorandum are not insured against loss through the Canada Deposit Insurance 

Corporation. The Class A Shares are redeemable at the option of the holder, but only under certain circumstances and 

due to the illiquid nature of Mortgage lending the Corporation may not be in a position to redeem the shares when 

requested by a Class A Shareholder. 

Prospectus and Registration Exemptions 

The Offering is being made pursuant to exemptions from the prospectus and, if applicable, registration requirements 

of applicable securities legislation (the “Exemptions”). As a consequence of acquiring the Class A Shares offered 

hereby pursuant to such Exemptions and the fact that no prospectus has or is required to be filed with respect to any 

of the Class A Shares offered hereby under applicable securities legislation in Canada: 

(i) you will be restricted from using certain of the civil remedies available under applicable securities 

legislation; 

(ii) certain protections, rights and remedies provided in such legislation will not be available to you; 

(iii) you may not receive information that might otherwise be required to be provided to you under such 

legislation; and 

(iv) the Corporation is relieved from certain obligations that would otherwise apply under such 

legislation. 

Redemptions 

Changes in economic conditions and other factors may cause Class A Shareholders to redeem their Class A Shares and 

could cause a shortfall in funds available to meet redemptions or distributions to the Class A Shareholders. 

The directors of the Corporation may determine that funds are not currently available for the payment of the 

redemption price of any Class A Shares in respect of which the Class A Shareholder has requested a redemption, in 

which case the Corporation may elect to delay payment or pay the redemption price for such Class A Shares. 
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Speculative Investment 

An investment in the Class A Shares is highly speculative and should only be considered by investors who are able to 

make a long term investment and are aware of the risk factors involved in such an investment. You should only invest 

in the Class A Shares if you are able to bear the risk of the entire loss of your investment and have no need for 

immediate liquidity in such investment. 

Dilution 

The number of Class A Shares the Corporation is authorized to issue is unlimited and the directors have the sole 

discretion to issue additional Class A Shares. The proceeds of this Offering may not be sufficient to accomplish all of 

the Corporation’s proposed objectives. In addition to alternate financing sources, the Corporation may conduct future 

offerings of Class A Shares in order to raise the funds required which will result in a dilution of the interests of the 

Class A Shareholders in the Corporation and the income or loss from the Corporation. 

Less than Expected Offering 

There can be no assurance that the Corporation’s expected sales of Class A Shares will be achieved. In such case, less 

proceeds will be available to the Corporation and, consequently, the Corporation’s business development plans and 

prospects could be adversely affected, since fewer Mortgage Loans will be granted by the Corporation. 

Potential Liability under Environmental Protection Legislation 

Environmental and ecological legislation and policies have become increasingly important in recent years. Under 

various laws, as the owner of real estate properties (if foreclosure proceedings are commenced and completed), the 

Corporation could become liable for the costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous or toxic substances 

released on, from or in one or more of the properties. The failure to remove or remediate such substances, if any, may 

adversely affect the Corporation’s ability to sell such a property or to borrow using a property as collateral. 

Tax Matters 

The return on the Class A Shareholder’s investment in the Class A Shares is subject to changes in Canadian federal and 

provincial tax laws, tax proposals, other governmental policies or regulations and governmental, administrative or 

judicial interpretation of the same. There can be no assurance that tax laws, tax proposals, policies or regulations, or 

the interpretation thereof, will not be changed in a manner which will fundamentally alter the tax consequences to 

Class A Shareholders acquiring, holding or disposing of Class A Shares. 

If, for any reason, the Corporation fails to maintain its qualification as a mortgage investment corporation under the 

Tax Act, dividends paid by the Corporation on the Class A Shares will cease to be deductible from the Corporation’s 

income and the Class A Shares may cease to be qualified investments for Deferred Plans. See Item 6 “Income Tax 

Consequences and RRSP / TFSA Eligibility”. 

Availability of Funds 

The Corporation may commit to making future Mortgage investments in anticipation of repayment of principal 

outstanding under existing Mortgage investments. In the event that such repayments of principal are not made in 

contravention of the borrowers’ obligations, the Corporation may be unable to advance some or all of the funds 

required to be advanced pursuant to the terms of its commitments and may face liability in connection with its failure 

to make such advances. 
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Costs of Protecting Investment 

Certain significant expenditures, including property taxes, capital repair and replacement costs, maintenance costs, 

Mortgage payments, insurance costs and related charges must be made through the period of ownership of Real 

Property regardless of whether the property is producing income. The Corporation may be required to incur such 

expenditures to protect its investment, even if the borrower is not making debt service required of it under an 

applicable Mortgage. 

Credit Worthiness of Borrower(s) 

The value of income producing Real Property may also depend on the credit worthiness and financial stability of the 

borrower(s). The Corporation’s income and funds available for distribution to shareholders would be adversely 

affected if a significant number of borrower(s) were unable to pay their obligation to the Corporation or if the 

Corporation were unable to invest its funds in commercial Mortgages on economically favourable terms. On default by 

a borrower(s), the Corporation may experience delays in enforcing its rights as lender and may incur substantial costs 

in protecting its investment. 

For all of the aforesaid reasons and other reasons not set forth herein, the Class A Shares involve a certain degree of 

risk. Any person considering the purchase of the Class A Shares should be aware of these and other factors set forth in 

this Offering Memorandum and should consult with his or her legal, tax and financial advisors prior to making an 

investment in the Class A Shares. The Class A Shares should only be purchased by persons who can afford to lose all of 

their total investment. 

ITEM 9 

REPORTING OBLIGATIONS 

The Corporation is not, and has no intention of becoming, a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction. It is therefore not 

required to disclose material changes which occur in its business and affairs, nor is it required to file with the securities 

regulatory authorities audited interim financial statements or audited year-end financial statements.  

The Corporation is not required to send you any documents on an annual or ongoing basis. However, Class A 

Shareholders will receive yearly T5 tax returns for cash investment income. 

The Corporation’s fiscal year commences November 1 in each year and ends October 31 of the following year. In 

accordance with requirements of the BCBCA, the Corporation is required to place financial statements before its 

shareholders at each annual general meeting and to deposit copies for inspection at its records office during normal 

business hours. 

ITEM 10 

RESALE RESTRICTIONS 

The Class A Shares will be subject to a number of resale restrictions, including a restriction on trading. Until the 

restriction on trading expires, you will not be able to trade the Class A Shares unless you comply with an exemption 

from the prospectus and registration requirements under securities legislation. For Subscribers resident in British 

Columbia, unless permitted under securities legislation, you cannot trade the Class A Shares before the date that is 

four months and a day after the date the Corporation becomes a reporting issuer in any province or territory of 

Canada. The Corporation may proceed to become a reporting issuer in the future; however, in the event the 

Corporation does not become a reporting issuer, Class A Shareholders may never be able to trade or re-sell their Class 

A Shares.  See Item 5.2 “Subscription Procedure – Trading and Resale Restrictions”. 
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ITEM 11 

PURCHASERS’ RIGHTS 

If you purchase these securities you will have certain rights, some of which are described below. For information 

about your rights you should consult a lawyer. 

The following summary is subject to the express provisions of the securities legislation of each offering jurisdiction 

and the regulations, rules and policy statements thereunder and reference is made thereto for the complete text of 

such provisions. Subscribers should refer to those provisions for the particulars of these rights or consult with a 

legal adviser. 

Two Day Cancellation Right 

You can cancel your agreement to purchase these securities. To do so, you must send a notice to the Corporation or 

the Manager by midnight on the second business day after you sign the agreement to buy the securities. 

Statutory Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation 

If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, investors resident in British Columbia will have a 

statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Corporation to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or 

(b) for damages against the Corporation, every person who was a director at the date of this Offering 

Memorandum and every person who signs the Offering Memorandum. 

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are 

various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence 

if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must 

commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after you signed the agreement to purchase the 

securities. You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after learning of the 

misrepresentation and three years after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities. 

The foregoing summary is subject to the express provisions of the B.C. Securities Act and the rules and the regulations 

thereunder and reference is made thereto for the complete text and provisions.  Investors should refer to those 

provisions for the particulars of these rights or consult with a lawyer. 

The rights of action described herein are in addition to and without derogation from any other right or remedy that 

the Investor may have at law. 

You should refer to the applicable provisions of the securities legislation for particulars of the rights or consult with 

a lawyer.  

You should consult your own legal advisers with respect to your rights and the remedies available to you. The rights 

discussed above are in addition to and without derogation from any other rights or remedies, which you may have 

at law. 

ITEM 12 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Please see the Corporation’s audited financial statements for the year ended October 31, 2017 attached hereto. 
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Independent Auditor's Report
Grant Thornton LLP
Suite 1600, Grant Thornton Place
333 Seymour Street
Vancouver, BC
V6B 0A4

T +1 604 687 2711
F +1 604 685 6569
www.GrantThornton.ca

To the Shareholders of 
Financial Key Mortgage Corporation

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Financial Key Mortgage
Corporation, which comprise the statement of financial position as at October 31, 2017, and the
statements of income and comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the company's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Audit • Tax • Advisory
Grant Thornton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd 1



Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Financial Key Mortgage Corporation as at October 31, 2017, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Vancouver, Canada
December 14, 2017 Chartered Professional Accountants

Audit • Tax • Advisory
Grant Thornton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd 2



Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Statement of Financial Position
October 31 2017 2016

Assets
Cash $ 122,439 $ 873,321
Interest receivable 46,050 31,845
Loan receivable (Note 4) 1,800,000 -
Mortgages receivable (Note 5) 3,884,000 4,193,736
Prepaid expenses - 726

Total assets $ 5,852,489 $ 5,099,628

Liabilities
Accounts payable (Note 6) $ 64,548 $ 22,652
Dividends payable (Note 7) 426,940 266,621
Unearned revenue 1 3,650
Class A shares (Note 8) 5,360,900 4,806,605

Total liabilities 5,852,389 5,099,528

Shareholders' equity
Share capital (Note 8) 100 100

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 5,852,489 $ 5,099,628

Subsequent events (Note 15)

On behalf of the board

  Director   Director

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 3



Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income
Year ended October 31 2017 2016

Revenue
Interest income $ 561,965 $ 370,153
Fee income 16,356 9,914

Total revenue 578,321 380,067

Expenses
Management fees (Note 10) 117,050 72,402
Professional fees (Note 9) 21,256 33,375
Office 3,984 1,948
Referral fees 3,000 459
Licences and dues 1,045 -
Advertising and promotion 396 -
Interest and bank charges 268 255

Total expenses 146,999 108,439

Income before other item 431,322 271,628

Other item
Dividend expense (Note 7) (431,322) (271,628)

Net and comprehensive income $ - $ -

Related party transactions (Note 10)

Rate of return (Note 14)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 4



Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended October 31

Share Capital
Retained
Earnings Total

Balance, October 31, 2015 $ 4 $ - $ 4

Net and comprehensive income - - -

Proceeds from issuance of shares 96 - 96

Balance, October 31, 2016 100 - 100

Net and comprehensive income - - -

Balance, October 31, 2017 $ 100 $ - $ 100

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 5



Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended October 31 2017 2016

Increase (decrease) in cash

Operating activities
Net and comprehensive income $ - $ -
Items not affecting cash

Interest income (561,965) (370,153)
Dividends 431,322 271,628

Changes in prepaid expenses 726 -
Changes in accounts payable 41,897 (17,509)
Changes in unearned revenue (3,649) 3,650

Cash flows relating to interest
   Interest received 547,760 377,445
   Dividends paid (40,685) (16,413)

415,406 248,648

Financing activities
Class A shares issued 551,907 1,545,890
Class A shares redeemed (227,931) (391,004)
Class B shares issued - 96

323,976 1,154,982

Investing activities
Loan receivable (1,800,000) -
New mortgages funded (684,000) (3,573,750)
Mortgages repaid 993,736 2,643,014

(1,490,264) (930,736)

(Decrease) increase in cash (750,882) 472,894

Cash
Beginning of year 873,321 400,427

End of year $ 122,439 $ 873,321

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 6



Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Notes to the Financial Statements
October 31, 2017

1. Nature of operations

Financial Key Mortgage Corporation (the "Company") is a mortgage investment corporation
pursuant to Section 130.1 of the Income Tax Act. It was incorporated under the British Columbia
Companies Act on January 14, 2009. The primary mandate of the Company is to invest its pooled
funds into residential first and second mortgages and to provide a reasonable rate of return to its
shareholders.

The address of the Company's registered office is Suite 216, 2630 Croydon Drive, Surrey, BC  V3S
6T3.

2. Basis of presentation

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

These annual financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on XX.

Basis of measurement
These financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for financial
instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss that have been measured at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the Company's
functional currency. 

Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make
estimates, assumptions and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting date and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period.

Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the valuation of mortgages
and  interest receivable and provisions for impaired loans.

Management believes that its estimates are appropriate, however, actual results could differ from
the amounts estimated. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed annually and
revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and
any future periods affected.

7



Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Notes to the Financial Statements
October 31, 2017

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

Mortgages receivable

Mortgages receivable are classified as loans and receivables and are recorded at amortized cost,
less allowances for loans impairment.

Specific allowances are established for individual mortgages identified as impaired, whereby the
company reduces the carrying value of these mortgages to their estimated net realizable value.
Mortgages classified as impaired include mortgages for which interest and principal payments are
90 days in arrears and the underlying security is considered inadequate to recover all costs.
Estimated realizable amounts are determined by the estimated net fair market value of the security
underlying the mortgages after deducting costs of realization.

The Company capitalizes all maintenance and foreclosure costs with the intention of recovering
these costs upon subsequent payout of the mortgage providing that sufficient equity is estimated to
exist in the underlying security.

Revenue recognition

Interest income on mortgages is recorded using the accrual method. The majority of the mortgages
receivable are for a one year term and, therefore, loan fees and expenses are recognized in the
year received or incurred.

In foreclosure situations, the Company will continue to accrue interest until management believes
there will be no recovery of the mortgage and successful completion of the foreclosure action is
inevitable. The Company will carefully review the situation with these mortgages and recognize any
impairment when it arises.

Income taxes

No provision for income taxes has been made in these financial statements, as the Company is a
Mortgage Investment Corporation in accordance with Section 130.1 of the Income Tax Act. No tax
is payable providing all income earned is paid out as dividends within 90 days of the fiscal year
end.

Dividends

Dividends on new shares are calculated on a pro-rated daily basis.

Financial instruments

All financial instruments are initially recognized on the statement of financial position at fair value at
acquisition. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on whether the financial instrument has
been classified as fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale, held-to-maturity, loans and
receivables, or other financial liabilities. During the year, there has been no reclassification of
financial instruments.

The financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value
with unrealized gains and losses recognized in net income. The Company does not have any
financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss.
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Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Notes to the Financial Statements
October 31, 2017

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses
recognized in other comprehensive income. The Company does not have any financial assets
classified as available-for-sale.

The financial assets classified as loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value, then
subsequently carried at amortized cost. The Company's financial assets classified as loans and
receivables include cash, interest receivable, loan receivable and mortgages receivable.

The financial assets classified as held-to-maturity are initially measured at fair value, then
subsequently carried at amortized cost. The Company does not have any held-to-maturity financial
assets.

Financial instruments classified as other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, then
subsequently carried at amortized cost. Other financial liabilities include accounts payable,
dividends payable and Class A shares.
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Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Notes to the Financial Statements
October 31, 2017

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations have been published that are mandatory
for the Company, that the Company has decided not to early adopt. The standards, amendments
and interpretations that will be relevant to the Company are:

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers will replace IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11
Construction Contracts and some revenue related interpretations. IFRS 15 establishes a new
control-based revenue recognition model, changes the basis for deciding whether revenue is to be
recognized over time or at a point in time, and improves disclosures about revenue.

IFRS 15 provides more detailed guidance on contracts involving the delivery of two or more goods
and services as to when to account separately for the individual performance obligations in a
multiple element arrangement, how to allocate the transaction price and when to combine
contracts. IFRS 15 also provides guidance on how to treat arrangements with variable pricing, such
as performance based pricing and how revenue can be constraint. In addition, IFRS 15 provides
guidance on time value of money as to when to adjust a contract price for a financing component.
IFRS 15 is effective for entities with accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with
early adoption permitted. The Company has not early adopted this standard and determines there
will be minimal impact to the Company's financial statements for 2018.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is the first of a multi-phase project to replace IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. It addresses the classification, measurement and
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

IFRS 9 divides all financial assets that are currently in the scope of IAS 39 into two classifications –
those measured at amortized cost and those measured at fair value. Classification is made at the
time the financial asset is initially recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. The transition guidance is complex and mainly requires retrospective
application.

Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities
have been carried forward unchanged to IFRS 9. Where an entity chooses to measure its own debt
at fair value, IFRS 9 now requires the amount of the change in fair value due to changes in the
issuing entity’s own credit risk to be presented in other comprehensive income. An exception to the
new approach is made where the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss, in which case all gains or losses on that liability
are to be presented in profit or loss.

The requirements in IAS 39 related to derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities have
been incorporated unchanged into the new version of IFRS 9.

IFRS 9 does not require the restatement of comparative-period financial statements for the initial
application of the classification and measurement requirements, but instead requires modified
disclosures on transition.

IFRS 9 is effective for entities with accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The
Company has not early adopted this standard and is in the midst of assessing and quantifying the
impact and effect that this standard will have on the Company’s financial statements for 2018.
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Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Notes to the Financial Statements
October 31, 2017

4. Loan receivable 2017 2016

Loan receivable $ 1,800,000 $ -

The loan receivable from a related party bears interest at 13% per annum calculated and paid
monthly, is unsecured and due in September 2018.

5. Mortgages receivable

No. % 2017 No. % 2016

First mortgages 1 16.45 $ 639,000 1 10.40 $ 435,000
Second mortgages 5 83.55 3,245,000 6 89.70 3,773,750

3,884,000 4,208,750
Unearned lender fee - 15,014

$ 3,884,000 $ 4,193,736

2017 2016

Average mortgage balance $ 647,333 $ 601,249
Weighted average interest rate %11.06 %10.53

At October 31, 2017 there were no mortgages in foreclosure and no delinquent mortgages (2016 -
no mortgages in foreclosure and no delinquent mortgage). Management anticipates no losses will
occur on the mortgage, therefore no loan impairment provision has been recorded for the current
year.

If an impairment was warranted it would be based on valuations by independent appraisers
accredited by professional institutes with recent experience in the location of the property being
valued and by direct sales comparisons where the fair value is based on comparisons to recent
sales of properties of similar types, locations and quality.

At October 31, 2017 there was one mortgage over $1 million which in total represents 25.75% of
the mortgage portfolio (2016 - one over $1 million representing 23.85%), and one mortgage over
$2 million representing 51.49% of the total mortgage portfolio (2016 - one over $2 million
representing 47.69%).

As at October 31, 2017, there are 4 residential mortgages which is 22.76% of the total number of
mortgages (2016 - 3; 18.45%). Remaining 2 mortgages include residential land developments
(2016 - 4). All mortgages are located in British Columbia (2016 - 100%).

The mortgages bear interest at fixed rates, which are within the company's guidelines and are
consistent with the equity based lending market.
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Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Notes to the Financial Statements
October 31, 2017

5. Mortgages receivable (continued)

Principal repayments based on contractual maturity dates are as follows:

2017 2016

Mortgage contracts expiring within 12 months $ 3,769,000 $ 4,193,736
Mortgage contracts expiring past 12 months 115,000 -

$ 3,884,000 $ 4,193,736

6. Accounts payable 2017 2016

Financial Key Consulting Inc. - management fees $ 54,048 $ 14,652
Grant Thornton LLP - estimated audit fees 8,000 8,000
Arun Bansal - accounting fees 2,500 -

$ 64,548 $ 22,652

7. Dividends payable

The company follows a dividend policy in accordance with the provision of the Income Tax Act
related to Mortgage Investment Corporations. Dividends are paid on an annual basis after the year
end and will be paid at $0.0843 per share (2016 - paid at $0.0703 per share).

Dividends previously declared on the preferred shares of the Company were distributed as follows:

2017 2016

Dividends payable, beginning of year $ 266,621 $ 266,580
Dividends paid in cash (40,685) (16,413)
Dividends paid in shares (230,318) (255,174)
Dividends declared during the year 431,322 271,628

Dividends payable, end of year $ 426,940 $ 266,621

12



Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Notes to the Financial Statements
October 31, 2017

8. Share capital

Authorized
Unlimited Class A non-voting shares with a par value of $1 each, redeemable at price equal

to the lesser of the net assets' fair market value per share and:
   i) $0.98 at any time up to the first anniversary of the investment.
   ii) $0.99 at any time after the first anniversary of the investment and up to the 
   second anniversary.
   iii) $1.00 at any time after the second anniversary of the investment or at the 
   directors discretion.

Unlimited Class B voting shares with a par value of $1 each.

2017 2016

Shares Amount Shares Amount

Presented under equity
Class B
Shares outstanding, beginning
and end of year 100 $ 100 100 $ 100

Presented under liabilities
Class A
Shares outstanding, beginning of
year 4,806,605 $ 4,806,605 3,396,545 $ 3,396,545

Issued 551,908 551,908 1,545,890 1,545,890

Redeemed (227,931) (227,931) (391,004) (391,004)

Dividends issued as shares 230,318 230,318 255,174 255,174

Shares outstanding, end of year 5,360,900 $ 5,360,900 4,806,605 $ 4,806,605

All Class A are equally eligible to receive dividends and the repayment of capital. Each Class B
share represents one vote at the shareholders' meeting.

When the rate of return exceeds 9%, Class B shareholders will receive 25% of the dividends
declared in excess of this amount.

The Company follows the IFRS recommendations for accounting for financial instruments,
therefore issued share capital which is redeemable at the request of the shareholder and has the
attributes of a financial liability is presented as such.
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Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Notes to the Financial Statements
October 31, 2017

9. Professional fees 2017 2016

Professional fees are as follows:

Audit fees $ 12,595 $ 9,733
Offering memorandum 6,161 15,768
Accounting fees 2,500 -
Corporate legal matters and tax opinion - 7,874

$ 21,256 $ 33,375

10. Related party transactions

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

The Company has contracted Financial Key Consulting Inc. to manage the mortgage portfolio for a
fee which is calculated equal to 2% of the total assets of the Company at year-end as per the
Offering Memorandum with the British Columbia Securities Commisson. Financial Key Consulting
Inc. is owned by the four directors of the company. 

Management fees for the fiscal year total $117,050 (2016 - $72,402) and an amount of $54,049
(2016 - $14,652) was unpaid at the year end. Unpaid amounts are in the normal course of
business, non-interest bearing and were paid within 90 days of the year end.

Mortgages and loan totalling $3,800,000 (2016 - $3,573,750) have been advanced to related
parties, and a commitment to provide a further $8,000,000 upon satisfaction of certain criteria.
Interest income of $509,494 (2016 - $253,367) and no renewal fees (2016 - $Nil), were earned on
the related party mortgages during the year. This mortgage and loan were advanced in accordance
with the company's existing mortgage and operating policies and is secured by property and
personal guarantees by the related director.

Directors, officers and related family members who have investments in the Company received
$13,518 (2016 - $13,432) in dividend income. In all cases, the dividends received were based on
the same criteria as all other investors holding the same class of shares in the Company.

At October 31, 2017 each director owned an aggregate total of 5.24% of the non-voting Class A
shares (2016 - 5.62%).

Advances between the Company and a related party, Financial Key Consulting Inc., are non-
interest bearing and have no set repayment terms. The amount is comprised of expenses paid by
one company on behalf of the other during the normal course of operations. At October 31, 2017,
there were no unpaid balances between the entities (2016 - $Nil).
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Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Notes to the Financial Statements
October 31, 2017

11. Fair value of financial instruments

The following provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured, subsequent to initial
recognition, at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable:

Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical investments

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the investment,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

Level 3 - inputs for the investments that are not based on observable market data

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset or financial liability is
categorized is determined on the basis of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified in their entirety into only one of
three levels.

As at October 31, 2017 there are no financial instruments carried at fair value and consequently,
no financial instruments categorized into Levels 1, 2 or 3 nor transfers between Level 1 and 2 for
the year then ended.

12. Financial instruments

The Company's financial instruments consist of cash, interest receivable, loan receivable,
mortgages receivable, accounts payable, dividends payable and Class A shares. The Company is
exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a comprehensive risk
management framework to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The following analysis
provides information about the Company's risk exposure and concentration as of October 31,
2017.
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Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Notes to the Financial Statements
October 31, 2017

12. Financial instruments (continued)

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations. The
Company is exposed to credit risk in that the mortgagor will fail to discharge the obligation causing
the company to incur a financial loss. In order to reduce its credit risk, the Company ensures that
the collateral value of the security fully protects first, second and subsequent mortgage advances
and that there is a viable exit strategy for each loan. Credit risks policies include the following:

 - General mortgage policy statements including approval of lending policies, eligibility
for loans, exceptions to policy, policy violations, liquidity and loan administration;

 - Mortgage lending limits and criteria set by the Board of Directors;
 - Review of mortgages by the Board of Directors; and
 - Mortgage delinquency controls regarding procedures followed for loans in arrears.

An allowance for doubtful mortgages is established based upon factors surrounding the
delinquency of specific accounts other information. The Company has a significant number of
mortgages which minimizes concentration of credit risk.

Specific credit risk information on concentration of credit risk in various geographical locations,
economic activities and delinquent mortgages is detailed in Note 5.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company cannot meet a demand for cash or fund its obligations as
they come due. The Company's management oversees the liquidity risk to ensure the Company
has access to enough readily available funds to cover its financial obligations as they come due.

The assessment of the Company's liquidity position reflects management's estimates, assumptions
and judgments pertaining to current and prospective firm specific and market conditions.

The Company manages liquidity risk by:

- Continuously monitoring actual daily and longer-term forecasted cash flows; and
- Monitoring the maturity profiles of financial assets.

The Company is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its receipt of funds from its mortgages
and other related sources share purchases and redemptions, and accounts payable.

An analysis of mortgage due dates is provided in Note 5; all other sources of funds have terms of
less than 12 months.
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Financial Key Mortgage Corporation
Notes to the Financial Statements
October 31, 2017

12. Financial instruments (continued)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises four types of risk: currency rate risk,
interest rate risk, fair value risk and other price risk. The Company is mainly exposed to interest
rate risk and other price risk.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a
change in the interest rates. The mortgages receivable are advanced for mainly one year terms,
with the rate of interest fixed for that term. Interest rates on mortgages receivable reflect credit risk
and prime interest rates. Upon renewal of the mortgage, the company has the option of adjusting
the interest rate to respond to changes in credit risk or the prime interest rate.

In seeking to minimize the risks from interest rate fluctuations, the Company manages exposure
through its normal operating and financing activities. 

If interest rates on mortgage receivable had been one percent point higher (lower) during the year
ended October 31, 2017, earnings would have been reduced (increased) by approximately
$52,000 (2016 - $35,000) during the year, assuming that no changes had been made to the
interest rates at which new mortgage loans were entered into.

Fair value risk
Fair value risk is the potential for loss from an adverse movement in the value of a financial
instrument. The Company incurs fair value risk on its mortgages receivable held. The company
does not hedge its fair value risk.

Other price risk
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices  (other than those  arising from interest rate risk or
currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.
The Company does not hold financial instruments traded in the active market.

Included in other price risk is the real estate property that provides the underlying security for
mortgages receivable. The Company aims to minimize other price risk through maintaining
sufficient loan to value ratios on the advance of mortgages.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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13. Capital management

The Company's objective when managing capital is to continue operations as a going concern so
that it can provide its shareholders with a safe, superior-yielding and liquid investment that also
qualifies as an eligible investment for Registered Retirement Savings Plan, Registered Retirement
Income Funds and Tax-Free savings Accounts.

The Company defines capital as being the funds raised through the issuance of Class A and B
shares of the company. The overall objective of capital management is to ensure that the company
has sufficient capital to maintain its operations based on current activities and expected business
developments in the future and to provide a return to the shareholders commensurate with the risk
of the business and comparable to other similar companies.

The Company is required to comply with Section 130.1(6) of the Income Tax Act which defines the
requirements for Mortgage Investment Corporations. These guidelines give specific externally
imposed capital requirements. During the year the company complied with these requirements.

14. Rate of return

The effective annual yield on adjusted share capital for the 2017 fiscal year is 8.43% (2016 -
7.03%).

The weighted average share capital for the 2017 fiscal year was 4,993,767 (2016 -  3,866,374).

The average rate of return since inception on January 14, 2009 is 7.80%.

15. Subsequent events

Subsequent to the year end, the loan receivable of $1,800,000 was fully repaid on November 14,
2017. 

There were no redemptions (2016 - Nil) and no issuance of Class A shares (2016 - Nil) made
within 30 days of the year end.
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DATE AND CERTIFICATE 

Dated:  February 19, 2018 

This Offering Memorandum does not contain a misrepresentation. 

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE CORPORATION 

 

 

 

Per: “Gurmeet Singh Grewal”  

 GURMEET SINGH GREWAL 

 President, Acting CEO & Director 

  

 

Per: “Rajvinder Pooni”  

 RAJVINDER POONI 

 Treasurer, Acting CFO & Director  

 

 

 

Per: “Manpreet Singh Gill”  

 MANPREET SINGH GILL 

 Vice President & Director 

  

 

Per: “Satpal Rai”  

 SATPAL RAI 

 Secretary & Director 

ON BEHALF OF THE PROMOTER, 

FINANCIAL KEY CONSULTING INC. 

 

 

 

Per: “Gurmeet Singh Grewal”  

 GURMEET SINGH GREWAL 

 Secretary & Director 

  

 

Per: “Satpal Rai”  

 SATPAL RAI 

 President & Director 
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